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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
BRHE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

mEEE
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
2021%F 20205 20194 20184 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHT FHT FHT
Revenue Wz 362,513 259,314 352,937 371,883 305,021
Income tax expenses FrisfiF X (6,270) (3,145) (11,434) (8,020) (8,020)
Profit for the year 735 F 14,984 1,647 26,482 33,735 25,748
Profit for the year attributable to ~ ANARIZEA A
owners of the Company FE(EFE AR 14,984 1,647 25,331 31,940 24,208
As at 31 December
M12831H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20215 20204 20194 20184 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET FHET FHET FHT
Total assets BERE 401,028 361,692 286,400 270,846 235,683
Total liabilities BlEeE 151,362 125,566 142,430 154,130 151,770
Equity attributable to owners of ViN/NEIE Z SN
the Company FE(h R 249,666 236,126 143,970 116,716 83,913

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2021 Annual Report



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFE®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Cirtek Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group” or “Cirtek”), | would like to
present the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 (“FY2021").

It has been more than two years since the outbreak of the novel
coronavirus (“COVID-19") and the situation of the global pandemic
remains volatile. Up till the second half of 2021, pandemic prevention
and control had become the new normal, coupled with the rise in
vaccination rate, economic activities resumed and the consumer
market gradually recovered. Under the COVID-19 pandemic, consumer
spending patterns underwent a structural change in driving the apparel
industry into digitalisation further, bringing forth a new momentum for
the production industry. However, the effect from the pandemic on the
operation of factories in certain areas, together with the growing tension
in global supply chain and logistics and the surge in raw material cost,
have brought tough challenges for manufacturers of apparel labels and
trim products, leading to an industry reshuffle where weaker competitors
are eliminated by stronger ones due to lack of competitiveness.

Early at the beginning of the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, we had
foreseen market development and formulated strategies to further
invest into expanding the market into an enormous sales network
covering over 40 major fashion markets across the Americas, Europe and
Asia, and progressively enhanced the production capacity of our every
production base in a bid to seize the business opportunities arising from
market recovery in the future. As the COVID-19 pandemic was not put
under control, many apparel brands sought to or turned to cooperate
with manufacturers whose scale and capability were comparable to
Cirtek's as a way to ensure their production efficiency, quality and
timely delivery of products, which resulted in a significant increase in
the number of orders received by the Group. Thanks to the effective
strategies and unity of our staff in defying all odds, the Group managed
to march forward despite the COVID-19 pandemic and the revenue
during the year under review had exceeded the revenue recorded prior to
the pandemic in 2019, and the revenue by key geographical markets all
showed significant increase, of which the revenue growth performance
of markets where the production bases were located at, including
China, Vietnam and Bangladesh, were particularly outstanding, with a
year-on-year growth of over 50%; the Group’s profit for the year for
FY2021 soared over 809% as compared to the corresponding period in
2020, reaching approximately HK$15.0 million, indicating the significant
effectiveness of the strategies implemented by the Group.

BRRER
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEWE

In view of the recovering demand from apparel markets in Europe and
America, we had set up new sales offices in Turkey, Guatemala and
Mexico respectively in the second half of 2021 following our setup
of a sales office in Italy in March 2021, so as to grasp the business
opportunities from the emerging markets in Eastern Europe and South
America. In addition, during FY2021, we entered into cooperation with
two kids' apparel brands which was our first collaboration with branded
clients in China. We see great potential in these new business sites — not
only can boost sales for the Group, but also can diversify our source of
income from different regions, disperse market risks and strengthen our
resilience against adversities.

As clients from apparel labels and trim products request express delivery
of their products, we have made an early start on the positioning of
our production bases by setting up production factories in the world's
three largest apparel manufacturing countries, namely China, Vietnam
and Bangladesh, maintaining proximity to production bases of global
leading apparel brands and reaping the geographical advantages thereof.
In addition to proactively enhancing the production capacity of the
Bangladesh factory, we have also set up a new factory in India in the
second half of 2021. Together with the above, the commencement of
operation of our factory in Turkey in the second half of the year will
provide formidable support to our global business expansion strategy.
We will closely monitor the demand from different geographical markets
and explore suitable regions to set up our production line, in an effort to
stimulate our growth.

We are committed to seeking new growth momentum while expanding
our existing business scale. Leveraging on our understanding on the
application of radio-frequency identification (“RFID") technology and
our foreseen room for development of this technology at the retail
sector, we launched our own researched and developed RFID supply
chain solution in 2021 and received decent response from the market.
In addition, we made a strategic decision at the beginning of 2022 of
announcing our acquisition of Print100 to introduce existing products of
the Group onto Print100’s established online platform to create synergy
and build a business-to-customer (“B2C") business model in the global
market and step into a whole new development area.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2021 Annual Report
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEWHE

In the coming year, although many uncertainties still exist in the global
market under the COVID-19 pandemic and geopolitics remain unstable,
apparel markets in different regions are recovering as global economic
activities gradually reboot. We remain cautious and optimistic towards
our prospects. Under the pandemic, we marched on despite strong
winds and heavy rain, and prepared ourselves well for the post-pandemic
market rebound, which have led us into today’s preliminary success. The
strategic deployment of the Group will complete in general this year, and
together with our new business elements, we are confident that Cirtek
can continue its steady development and success.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere gratitude to
our shareholders, staff members, customers and suppliers for their solid
support for the Group, assisting the Group to overcome all challenges
and forge ahead.

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEN W& D

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

In the second half of 2021, the global major economies gradually
recovered. According to the World Bank Group Flagship Report published
in January 2022, global growth surged to an estimated 5.5% in 20217,
demonstrating that economic development has continued despite
the COVID-19 pandemic. Not only did the COVID-19 pandemic bring
challenges for the global supply chain, but it also brought about an
enormous change in consumer spending patterns. In response to the
aforementioned factors, the apparel industry has accelerated its digital
transformation and proactively explored various sales channels and
have brought about a new development momentum which will drive
up the demand of apparel labels and trim products. According to the
Statista Consumer Market Outlook, revenue generated by the global
apparel market will increase to nearly US$2 trillion? in 2026, indicating
a huge potential for development. As a leading enterprise, our Group
is committed to seizing the market opportunities and growing with the
momentum.

The Group continued to implement its global expansion strategy and
seized business opportunities as the market gradually recovered amid
an improving COVID-19 situation, resulting in significant growth in both
revenue and earnings. For FY2021, the revenue of the Group increased
by approximately 39.8% from approximately HK$259.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (“FY2020") to approximately HK$362.5
million for FY2021, which was principally due to the relaxation of
COVID-19 related restrictions in various countries, leading to an increase
in demand and sales in FY2021. In particular, the revenue generated
from the Group's operations in Vietnam, Bangladesh and Mainland
China climbed the most. Please refer to note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements for further details of the growth in revenue of the
Group by geographical regions. Nevertheless, the Group recorded a
decrease in gross profit margin from approximately 50.2% for FY2020
to approximately 43.6% for FY2021, which was mainly attributable to
the cost of sales of the Group increased by approximately 58.4% while
the revenue of the Group increased by approximately 39.8% for FY2021.
The profit attributable to owners of the Company achieved a year-on-
year growth of over 9.1 times to approximately HK$15.0 million (2020:
approximately HK$1.6 million), attributable to the (i) substantial increase
in revenue with the strict cost control measures implemented by the
Group, as well as the further optimisation of the Group's production
capacity structure, and (ii) the absence of the one-off listing expenses
recorded in FY2021. Nevertheless, due to the expansion of overall
operation of the Group during FY2021, the selling and distribution
expenses and administrative expenses of the Group were increased
by approximately HK$9.3 million and HK$16.9 million respective, as
a result of a number of new sales offices were setting up overseas
during FY2021. In view of the Group’s solid performance, the Board has
recommended the payment of a final dividend in cash of HK0.25 cents
per ordinary share (2020: HK0.075 cents) to recognize the continuous
support of the Company's shareholders.

L Global Economic Prospects 2022 issued by the World Bank Group
(https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/36519/9781464817601.pdf)
d Revenue of the apparel market worldwide from 2013 to 2026

(https://www.statista.com/forecasts/821415/value-of-the-global-apparel-market)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DT

In terms of sales, the Group has consistently promoted its global business
expansion strategy. In 2021, the Group expanded into Southern America
and Southern Europe by setting up sales offices in Guatemala, Mexico
and ltaly, as well as a factory in Turkey. Due to the stable pandemic
situation in Mainland China, domestic retail sales of enterprises (units)
above designated size (garments) in 2021 amounted to approximately
RMB997.46 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
14.2%3. The Group seized opportunities arising from the revival of the
domestic demand, and proactively expanded its business in the Mainland
China market, successfully securing two kids’ apparel brands as clients
and as the first group of branded clients in Mainland China for the Group.

In terms of production, the Group has put its strategic arrangement into
effect by setting up production factories in the world’s three largest
apparel manufacturing countries, namely Mainland China, Vietnam
and Bangladesh. According to information from the customs office of
Mainland China, completed exports of garments and clothing accessories
from Mainland China in 2021 amounted to approximately US$170.26
billion, representing a year-on-year growth of approximately 24 %?@.
The Group accurately focused on the gradual control of the COVID-19
pandemic in Mainland China and the recovery of the textile and apparel
industry, and had early prepared to add machines to its domestic
production bases to expand its production capacity, resulting in more
orders received from branded clients for its factories in Mainland China.
On the other hand, the Group has commenced trial operation at its new
production factory in India, with an aim to enhance the Group's overall
production capacity and capture post-pandemic business opportunities
across multiple regions.

In terms of products, propelled by the increasing popularity of retail
and inventory management, RFID products continued to be the fastest
growing product of the Group. To fully capture the business opportunities
arising from the wider application of RFID technology, the Group has
set up a development team to create RFID solutions and technology
to provide complete supply chain solutions for our clients, assist brand
owners in achieving intelligent packaging, intelligent warehousing,
intelligent stores and data platform, and optimize product quality. During
FY2021, the Group attracted various brands as our clients. In recent
years, many big brands further invested on their environmental, social and
governance aspect, so as to achieve sustainable development. The Group
has launched more eco-products manufactured with recyclable materials.

. Data Analysis in Performance of Apparel Industry in Mainland China from January 2021
to December 2021 by China National Garment Association
(http://www.cnga.org.cn/html/hysj/zhsj/20220217/54169.html)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2022, in addition to the threats from the COVID-19
pandemic, other factors such as geopolitical risks, inflation, interest rate
hikes and continued tension in the supply chain could impose challenges
to the global economic recovery. On the other hand, an operating
environment full of challenges could accelerate an industry shakeout,
allowing strong enterprises to seize larger portions of the market share
as weaker competitors would exit due to lack of competitiveness.
Leveraging on its global footprint at over 40 markets across the globe
and its production bases set up in a number of major apparel export
countries, the Group could effectively disperse geographical market
risks, benefit from expanding its business in various major markets, and
capture opportunities for business growth amid adverse circumstances.

2022 will be the year for the Group to leap further forward. In the second
quarter of 2022, in addition to the commenced operation of the Group's
office and factory in Spain and Turkey respectively, our first self-built
factory in Bangladesh is expected to commence production in the third
quarter of 2022, and the factory in Sri Lanka is to follow suit in the fourth
quarter of 2022. These deployments will lay a solid foundation for the
Group's long-term development.

RFID could be widely applied in emerging industries, such as intelligent
logistics and new retailing, indicating a huge potential for development.
According to a research analysis conducted by IDTechEx, and published
in November 2021, the global RFID market value in 2021 is estimated
to reach approximately US$11.6 billion, and would rise to approximately
US$12.2 billion* in 2022. The Group will follow such momentum
and expand its relevant businesses. To strengthen its technological
superiority, the Group plans to apply for patent registration for its own-
developed RFID products.

At the beginning of 2022, the Group announced its acquisition of
Print100 Limited. Leveraging on the business foundation of Print100
Limited and its online platform, the Group could expand into offering
more products with personalized elements, widen its business
scope and client base by expanding from business-to-business (B2B)
to business-to-consumer (B2C) and from small and medium-sized
enterprises to individual customers, so as to adapt to the diversified
development of the Group. By taking advantage of the broad business
network of the Group, new businesses could expand into multiple
geographical markets to generate synergy and create a whole new scope
of business for the Group on which new growth can be built. The ever
growing quick-print industry in recent years is expected to contribute our
overall business in the future.

g RFID Forecasts, Players and Opportunities 2022-2032
(https://www.idtechex.com/en/research-report/rfid-forecasts-players-and-opportunities-2022-2032/849)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue of the Group is mainly generated from the sale of apparel
labels and trim products, such as hang tags, woven labels, printed
labels and heat transfer products. Revenue of our Group increased by
approximately HK$103.2 million or 39.8% from approximately HK$259.3
million for FY2020 to approximately HK$362.5 million for FY2021. Such
increase was primarily due to the relaxation of COVID-19 restrictions in
many countries which in turn led to growth in demand and sales in 2021.

Cost of sales and gross profit

The cost of sales of the Group increased by approximately HK$75.4
million, representing an increase of 58.4% from approximately HK$129.1
million for FY2020 to approximately HK$204.5 million for FY2021, which
was driven by the increase in sales volume and increase in procurement
price for the major raw material consumed by the Group.

The Group's gross profit increased by approximately HK$27.8 million, or
approximately 21.4%, from approximately HK$130.2 million for FY2020
to approximately HK$158.0 million for FY2021. The Group's gross profit
margin decreased from approximately 50.2% for FY2020 to 43.6% for
FY2021.

Other income and gains

The Group's other income and gains, decreased by approximately
HK$3.1 million from approximately HK$9.7 million for FY2020 to
approximately HK$6.6 million for FY2021. The decrease was primarily as
a result of absence on government subsidies received during FY2021 in
relation to wages subsidies under the Employment Support Scheme of
the Anti-epidemic Fund operated by the Hong Kong government and the
decrease in bank interest income due to the decrease in overall interest
rate on deposits.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group's selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately HK$9.3 million, or approximately 25.6%, from
approximately HK$36.5 million for FY2020 to approximately HK$45.8
million for FY2021, primarily due to increase in (i) marketing and
promotion expenses, and (ii) salaries related to salesman, which were
generally in line with the increase in revenue during FY2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Administrative expenses

The Group’'s administrative expenses increased by approximately
HK$16.9 million, or approximately 21.6%, from approximately HK$78.2
million for FY2020 to HK$95.1 million for FY2021, primarily due to
increase in (i) the number of headcount, and (ii) the expansion of overall
operation and site offices, which were generally in line with the increase
in revenue during FY2021.

Other expenses

The Group's other expenses recorded a significant decrease of
approximately HK$7.3 million from approximately HK$7.4 million for
FY2020 to approximately HK$0.1 million for FY2021, primarily due to (i)
the decrease in exchange loss on foreign currencies, (i) the reduction of
provision of impairment of trade receivables and (iii) the absence of fair
value loss on financial assets during FY2021.

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs represented interest on bank loan and interest
on lease liabilities of approximately HK$2.3 million and HK$2.4 million
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively, which
remained broadly stable on year-on year basis.

Taxation

The Group's taxation expense significantly increased by approximately
99.4% from approximately HK$3.1 million for FY2020 to approximately
HK$6.3 million for FY2021. The change in the effective income tax rate
was mainly due to the profit fluctuation of certain subsidiaries with
different tax rates.

Profit for the year
The operating profit of the Group increased by approximately HK$13.4

million from approximately HK$1.6 million for FY2020 to approximately
HK$15.0 million for FY2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DT

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group had net assets amounted to approximately HK$249.7 million
as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: approximately HK$236.1
million). The Group maintained a sound financial position during FY2021.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$102.1 million (31 December 2020: approximately
HK$114.7 million).

For the cash and bank balances, approximately HK$67.2 million was
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, approximately HK$25.8 million
was denominated in US Dollars, and approximately HK$4.2 million was
denominated in Renminbi. The Group's cash in US Dollars and Renminbi
was held to support its core operational needs.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately HK$13.6 million (31 December 2020:
approximately HK$21.2 million) and aggregate banking facilities of
approximately HK$83.4 million, of which approximately HK$14.5 million
was utilised and approximately HK$68.9 million was unutilised. The
Group is not committed to draw down the unutilised amount.

The Group's certain lease liabilities are guaranteed by corporate
guarantees upon the listing of the Group (the “Listing”).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had property, plant and equipment
amounted to approximately HK$110.8 million (31 December 2020:
approximately HK$91.0 million). The property, plant and equipment
increased by approximately HK$19.8 million, or 21.8%, which was mainly
attributable to the acquisition of plant and machinery of approximately
HK$36.9 million during FY2021. For further strengthen the Group's
market position, increase its market share and capture the growth in
the global market, the Group has made additional investments in the
machinery and equipment.

Current ratio

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$107.8 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$3.9 million as compared to that of approximately
HK$111.7 million as at 31 December 2020. As a result, current ratio
(dividing total current assets by total current liabilities at year end date)
deteriorated to 1.8 times as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
2.1 times).

BEREE  RBESRIMBER

AEER2021F12A3MBHNEEFEN A
249,700,000 7 7t ( 2020 £ 12 B 31 B : 4
236,100,000/ 70) ° A& E 20218 B & E A9 8F
kR i iE6E - H£2021F12A310 » XEEH
#I8 © R IR1T 482 49/5102,100,000% 7T (20205
12 A31H : £9114,700,000%7C) °

MEERIBITHEHRME * 467,200,0007% 7T BA
7B T {E  #925,800,0008 TTIAE TTEHE 4
4,200,000 TTIAA RBEE - REBEUETRA
REENBS D EFERLEERT K -

2021 F12A31H ' XAEENFERITHER
#3 /13,600,000 % 7t (2020 12 A 318 : 4
21,200,000 7T ) + 48R 1T 8 & 4 483,400,000
BT B2 E R 4 14,500,000 8 T 0 4
68,900,000/ LRI AR ENF o A6 B0 # G HE AL
KEHEHE -

NEERIERER -

M20215F12A318 - "EBEHNYME - KERF
1% #7 /110,800,000 7 7T (2020412 A 318 :
#791,000,00087C) - W% - MERXEIL ML
19,800,000/ 7T5021.8% + * & B 7120218 B 5
S UL BE TR B I #4225 4936,900,000/8 7T » A —Hi2
BEAREBOTSHA - EMNETISHERBIIREK
TSGR - ANEED RS LR EELEIMNEE -

mE =

M2021612A318 - R&EBEWMREEEFE
#9/4107,800,000% 7T+ 8 2020F 12 A31 H 4
111,700,0007% 7T & 4> 493,900,000 7T ° B it -
M2021F12A310 » R ER(FEARDEER
BEBRUAREEEARE)EEZE1.815(2020F12 431
B:2.1fZ)

HEEZERERLT 2021 FERE

13



14

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Gearing ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio (dividing bank borrowings plus lease liabilities
by equity attributable to owners of the Company at year end date)
decreased from approximately 23.1% as at 31 December 2020 to
approximately 18.5% as at 31 December 2021. The decrease was mainly
due to the decrease on interest-bearing bank borrowings during the
reporting year.

Treasury policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the Reporting Period.

The management of the Group regularly reviews the recoverable
amounts and trade receivables by performing ongoing credit
assessments and monitoring prompt recovery and, if necessary, making
adequate impairment losses for irrecoverable amounts. In order to
achieve better cost control and minimise the cost of funds, the Group's
treasury activities are centralised and cash is generally deposited with
leading licensed banks in Hong Kong and denominated in Hong Kong
dollars.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars.
The Group currently does not use derivative financial instruments to
hedge against the volatility associated with foreign currency transactions
and other financial assets and liabilities arising in the ordinary course
of business. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in currency
exchanges rate during the Reporting Period. The Board will closely
monitor the changes of the rate of exchange and government policies
from time to time.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(31 December 2020: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DT

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 27 January 2022, the Company has entered into a non-legally binding
provisional sale and purchase agreement with the sole shareholder of
Print100 Limited (the “Provisional SPA"). Pursuant to the Provisional
SPA, the sole shareholder has provisionally agreed to sell and the
Company has provisionally agreed to purchase 100% of the equity
interests of Print100 Limited subject to the entering into of a definitive
formal sale and purchase agreement to be entered into between the
parties. Details of the proposed acquisition of equity interests in Print100
Limited are disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 27 January
2022. The Company will make further announcement(s) as and when
appropriate.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any significant
event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this report.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, we had a total of 1,050 employees in all
regions (2020: 990 employees).

The Company’'s employee benefit expense (excluding directors’
remuneration), including salaries, bonuses and other employee’s
benefits, amounted to approximately HK$136.9 million for FY2021
(FY2020: approximately HK$98.9 million). Remuneration packages
are generally structured by reference to market terms and individual
qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally reviewed annually based
on performance appraisals and other relevant factors.

FINAL DIVIDEND AND DATE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend in cash of
HKO0.25 cents per ordinary share for FY2021 (FY2020: HK0.075 cents
per ordinary share). The final dividend is conditional upon the passing of
the relevant resolution by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the “2022 AGM") to be held on Friday, 17 June 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 17 June 2022 will be eligible to attend and vote
at the 2022 AGM. It is expected that the proposed final dividend, if
approved, will be paid on Friday, 8 July 2022 to shareholders whose
name appear on the register of members on Friday, 24 June 2022.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not hold any significant
investments in equity interest in any other companies and had no
definite future plans for material investments and capital assets for
FY2021.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During FY2021, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING
The net proceeds from the initial public offering of the shares, net of
underwriting commission in respect of the offering and other relevant

expenses, amounted to approximately HK$69.9 million.

Set out below is the actual use of net proceeds up to the date of this
report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Expected

timeline for

utilisation

of the

unused net

proceeds

HEEEA

KEA

Percentage Net Amount Amount Fri85E

of net proceeds utilised remaining FER

Use of net proceeds proceeds FrEFIE R4 EEASE 3] ZEEER

fEFrisRE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000

FrEREFERRE FHEBAOL TER TEr TEr TiEr

on or before

Construction of the New Bangladesh Factory and 31 December

Purchasing Machinery for 2022

the New Bangladesh Factory R2022%

BERT RN K AR R AR e B 28 98.4% 68,800 18,911 49,889 12A31BHZ Al

General Working Capital N/A

—REE S 1.6% 1,100 1,100 - TiEH

Total

@5t 100.0 69,900 20,011 49,889

As of the date of this report, the Board is aware that there has been a
delay in the use of proceeds from the Listing when compared to the
implementation plan as disclosed in the Prospectus, which is because of

the outbreak of COVID-19.

Save for the delay in use of proceeds disclosed above up to 31
December 2021, the Group had used the net proceeds as originally
intended. Unutilised proceeds were deposited in licensed bank in Hong

Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and procedures. The corporate governance
principle of the Company emphasises accountability and transparency
and is adopted in the best interests of the Company and the shareholders
(the “Shareholders”). In addition, the Company will strive to
continuously improve these practices and cultivate an ethical corporate
culture.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance (the
"CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange"”), except for the following deviations:

Pursuant to code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code (which has been re-
numbered as Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules since 1 January 2022),
an issuer must establish a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee"”) chaired by the chairman of the board or an independent
non-executive director and comprising a majority of independent
non-executive directors.

Following the retirement of Dr. Wong Chi Wing as independent non-
executive Director in the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 18 June 2021, the number of independent non-executive Directors
on the Board was less than three and the Nomination Committee did not
comprise a majority of independent non-executive Directors as required
under the code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code contained in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules.

On 25 June 2021, Ms. Luk Mei Yan was appointed as independent non-
executive Director of the Company, Chairman of the audit committee
(the "Audit Committee”), a member of each of the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. The Company thereafter fulfilled the
requirements under the code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code contained
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules respectively.

The Board will adopt the new Corporate Governance Code (the “New CG
Code") with effect from 1 January 2022, the requirements under which
shall apply to the Company’s corporate governance report in the financial
year commencing on or after 1 January 2022. The Board will continue to
review and enhance its corporate governance practice of the Company
to ensure compliance with the New CG Code and align with the latest
development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Non-Compliance with Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee Requirements

Following the retirement of Dr. Wong Chi Wing as independent non-
executive Director in the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 18 June 2021, the number of independent non-executive Directors
on the Board and the number of members of the Audit Committee fell
below the minimum number required under Rule 3.10 (1) and Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules respectively. In addition, each of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee did not comprise a majority of
independent non-executive Directors as required under Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and the code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code contained in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules respectively.

On 25 June 2021, Ms. Luk Mei Yan was appointed as independent non-
executive Director of the Company, chairman of the Audit Committee,
a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. The Company thereafter fulfilled the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.21, 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules respectively.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board is composed of six Directors, of which three are executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry (“Mr. Barry Chan”), Ms.
Law Miu Lan (“Ms. Candy Law") and Mr. Chan Tsz Fung (“Mr. James
Chan”), and three are independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong and Ms. Luk Mei Yan. All
the independent non-executive Directors have appropriate professional
qualifications, experience or related industry expertise. Mr. Barry Chan,
the Chairman, is the spouse of Ms. Candy Law, the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the
effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive
Officer focuses on the Company’s business development and daily
management and operations generally. The Directors’ biography and
relevant relationships amongst them are set out in the section headed
"DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILES" section
under Report of the Directors on pages 36 to 40 of this annual report.
Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the members of the
Board is related to one another.
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Review will be made regularly by the Board to ensure that it has a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirement of the
Group. Also, a balanced composition of executive Directors is maintained
to ensure independence and effective management. The Company
has satisfied the Listing Rules in having one of the independent non-
executive Directors with appropriate accounting qualifications and
expertise to sit in the Audit Committee.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of
the guidelines. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and the
Listing Rules. Independent non-executive Directors are identified in all
corporate communications. An updated list of the Directors identifying
the independent non-executive Directors and the roles and functions
of the Directors is maintained on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

When selecting potential candidates for directors, skills, experience,
expertise, their devotion of time, potential conflicts of interests are
key factors of consideration. The Nomination Committee was set up to
make recommendations to the Board on the selection and nomination
of candidates for directorship. Majority of members of the Nomination
Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is responsible for the
formulation of the Group's strategy, overseeing the management of
the business and affairs of the Group. The Board directly, and indirectly
through its committees, leads and provides direction to management by
laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors
the Group's operational and financial performance, and ensures that
sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.
The Board reserves its decision for all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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Key and important decisions are fully discussed at the board meetings.
All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters proposed for
inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman has delegated the responsibility
for drawing up the agenda for each board meeting to the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”). With the
support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings
and receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner. The
Chairman ensures that the Board works effectively to discharge its
responsibilities in the best interests of the Company, and, to establish
good corporate governance practices and procedures. He also ensures
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely manner and all Directors are encouraged to make a full and active
contribution to the board’s affairs. Directors with different views are
encouraged to voice their concerns. They are allowed sufficient time for
discussion of issues so as to ensure that board decisions fairly reflect
board consensus. A culture of openness and debate is promoted to
facilitate the effective contribution of non-executive Directors and ensure
constructive relations between executive and non-executive Directors.
During the year, the Chairman held a meeting in 29 November 2021 with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
directors in compliance with the applicable code provision of the CG
Code.

Board meetings are scheduled to be held at regular intervals. The Board
would meet more frequently as and when required.

All the Directors are covered by the Director’'s & Officer’'s Liability
Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.

The attendance record of the individual Directors at the Board and
committee meetings, and general meeting(s) held during FY2021 is set
out below:

BREEZENAREREZS S EE2E W o A
BEZCOABAAZENTNEHEESEEALN -
FREREARTNARNE([ARAWE ] BER
FAEBREEEC R R TENEERNMER
BT BkBRAEESHESEERLLREZE
BREBEE®R TRHESRHRAEZEM =
BRERESSEHEENEE  WEFEAR B RETR
HRBERTEITERE  RFIERTGEEARAER
RiEF - ERNBERESSHAMEHELEESE
REET W BRMEES2 I NBEGREAES
CNEL  NEBBTRABYMNEERERCR - &
EARRERNHER  WHERESSARTEER
FitRMEESMNEGS EZTSRELAREERDY
WXt - AEBFERITERERERER g
RPTEIFNTEE WFEERERE - FR -
FFER2021F11 A29B8ERBEEMEET HFE NG
T BB IEMITEERITEE  NETLEE
A ST AR E A ST RIS -

EFeEHRTER EFeNNEARERARE
L8 -

PAEEOHEERSRBERERAR  ETA
BAsEEEN D -

BEEHRR 20N MBFEERTNEEERESR
BEHRARBERERRG ZRHEHFIAT

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

during FY2021

R0 BFERE  SERHEERRH

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination
Meeting committee committee committee AGM
EEEER BREEE HEEE REZEE RRAFKE
Executive Directors  #{T¥E =
Mr. Barry Chan PR B AR S0 & 4/4 N/A N/A 2/2 1
Ms. Candy Law wYBZ LT 4/4 N/A 2/2 N/A 111
Mr. James Chan PRI ST A 4/4 N/A N/A 2/2 /1
Independent Non- BIFHITES
executive Directors
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick ~ #REEH L4 4/4 3/3 N/A 2/2 171
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEERE 4/4 3/3 2/2 2/2 17
Ms. Luk Mei Yan PEE B 22 (MizET)
(Note 1) 3/3 2/2 11 11 N/A
Dr. Wong Chi Wing EEEEL(MiE2) 17 11 1/1 1/1 il
(Note 2)
Notes: B EE
1. Ms. Luk Mei Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, chairman of the 1. M2021F6A25H  BEEXB LT REZTABUINTES - F

audit committee, a member of each of the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee on 25 June 2021.

2. Dr. Wong Chi Wing retired as an independent non-executive Director and ceased to be a
chairman of the audit committee, a member of each of the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee on 18 June 2021.

BEEREIE URFMESSRBEAEEEHKE -

2. R2021%6A18H  EERBLREBUIFFNITES B - I
THAERZREEIR URFHZEGRRERZEEKE -
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Notice of at least fourteen days is given to the Directors for regular
meetings, while Board papers are sent to the Directors not less than
three days before the scheduled date of a board or board committee
meeting. The Directors can attend meetings in persons or through other
means of electronic communication. The Company Secretary ensures
that the procedure and all applicable rules and regulations are strictly and
fully complied with. Minutes of board meetings and board committee
meetings are recorded in sufficient details of the matters considered and
decisions reached at the relevant meetings. Draft and final versions of
the minutes in respect of board meetings and board committee meetings
are sent to all Directors or board committee members respectively
for comment and records within a reasonable time after the relevant
meetings. Minutes of board meetings and board committee meetings
are kept by the Company Secretary and are available for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Directors.

Directors have full access to information on the Group and are able to
obtain independent professional advice whenever necessary.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director will meet with other Directors and key
management executives, and will receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of her appointment. Subsequently,
he/she will receive briefings and other professional development
necessary to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
operations and business of the Company and he/she is fully aware of his/
her responsibility with the Company.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Directors
are also invited to participate in the Company events to familiarize
themselves with the operations of the Company and create opportunity
to communicate with other management members of the Company.
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The records of training as received by each Director for the year ended &EZEREZE2021F12A31BILEEEZEZ

31 December 2021 are summarized as follows: OB AT
Type of trainings
SEER
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Barry Chan PREEEA %5 A& A
Ms. Candy Law YW L A
Mr. James Chan FRAZ g S & A
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick ML A A
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELE A C
Ms. Luk Mei Yan (appointed on 25 June 2021)  [EEB 4+ (720215626 AEET) B
A: Newsletters published by the Stock Exchange A BERPT BRI

B: Corporate governance & administration courses organized by B: EER X AKSHEHFEERERERNCEST AR
the School of Continuing and Professional Studies, The Chinese TR R
University of Hong Kong

C: E-learning courses prepared by the Stock Exchange C: ERATEEG LIEIIRE
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
THE COMPANY

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the Company's code of conduct regarding
Directors’ and employees’ securities transactions. The chairman
of the Audit Committee is the person to be notified for securities
dealings by Directors and a designated form is used for notification
and acknowledgment purpose. All Directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, their compliance with the required
standards of dealings and its code of conduct regarding the directors’
securities transaction since the Listing Date (i.e. 12 March 2020) up to
the date of this report and there was no event of non-compliance.

Senior management of the Company is also required to comply with the
guidelines on similar terms as set out in the Model Code. No incident of
non-compliance of the guidelines by the employees was noted by the
Company.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company places great importance on internal control and risk
management to safeguard the assets of the Company and the interests
of Shareholders. The Board has overall responsibility for the system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Audit Committee
assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities for maintaining an
effective system of internal control. The Audit Committee reviews the
process by which the Group evaluates its control environment and risk
assessment process, and the way in which business and control risks
are managed through the assistance of the Company’s Internal Control
Consultant.

The Internal Control Consultant assesses risk exposure, formulates audit
plan and ensures that the audit programs cover key internal control areas
of operating subsidiaries on a rotational basis for the review by the Audit
Committee.

The Internal Control Consultant reports her findings and
recommendations to management of the Company and the Audit
Committee. The Internal Control Consultant also monitors the follow-
up actions agreed upon in response to her recommendations and
reports to the Audit Committee the progress of implementation of those
recommendations.

With the assistance of the Audit Committee and the Company’s Internal
Control Consultant, the Board is satisfied that the overall financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management of the Group
continues to be effective and adequate.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group. The Directors ensure that the preparation of
the financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 46 to 51 of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the auditors of the Company
received approximately HK$2,078,000 (2020: HK$2,152,000) for their
audit service. Non-audit service which covered taxation service provided
to the Group was approximately HK$281,000 (2020: HK$226,000) in the
same year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises two Independent Non-
executive Directors and one executive Director. They are Mr. Lee Tak
Cheong (Committee Chairman), Ms. Candy Law and Ms. Luk Mei Yan.
The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of
reference which are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and the
senior management were reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.
Remuneration, includes basic salary and performance bonus. Annual
salary adjustment and performance bonus are subject to review and
approval by the Remuneration Committee.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Chairman, the executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company, the remuneration policy and structure
for all Directors and senior management and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to
ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in
deciding his/her own remuneration.
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The Remuneration Committee met twice during the Reporting Period
with a 100% attendance by all committee members. During the year,
the works performed by the Remuneration Committee included the
following:

— the review of the performance and remuneration packages of
directors and senior management; and

— the review of the remuneration policy of the Group.
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises two executive Directors, Mr.
Barry Chan (Committee Chairman) and Mr. James Chan and three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong, Mr. Lam
Chor Ki Dick and Ms. Luk Mei Yan. The defined terms of reference of the
Committee are set out in writing and are posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendation
to the Board for selection and nomination of directors, and the
succession planning of directors and senior management. The
Nomination Committee also reviews the size, structure and composition
of the Board with reference to the Company's board diversity policy and
assesses the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee met twice during the Reporting Period with
a 100% attendance by all committee members.

During the year, the works performed by the Nomination Committee
included the following:

— the recommendation of the retiring directors for re-election at the
annual general meeting (the "AGM");

— the review of composition of the Board; and

— the assessment of independence of the independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Board adopted the board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board to enhance
quality of its performance. The policy aims to achieve diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors including but not being
limited to skills, regional and industry experience, background, age,
race, gender and other qualities. These differences will be taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All Board
appointments are based on merit, in the content of the talents, skills and
experience, and taking into account diversity.
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The Nomination Committee will report annually on the composition of
the Board under diversified perspective, and monitor the implementation
of this policy to ensure its effectiveness. It will discuss any revisions
that may be required and recommend such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”)
which sets out the selection criteria and process in relation to nomination
and appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure that
the Board members have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group's business.

The Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability
and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate,
including but not limited to the following:

Reputation for integrity;

— Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business and
industry;

— Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

— Compliance with the criteria of independence, in case for the
appointment of an independent non-executive director, as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange;

— Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service; and

— Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Nomination
Committee or the Board from time to time as appropriate.

The Nomination Policy also sets out the procedure for the selection and
appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at general
meetings.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors. They are Ms. Luk Mei Yan (Committee Chairman), Mr. Lee Tak
Cheong and Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick. The defined terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are set out in writing and are posted on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
effectiveness of Company’s internal control and the Company's internal
audit function, risk management system and regulatory compliance, the
review of the Company’s financial information and compliance, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditor and assessing its independence and performance.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held three meetings
and the attendance record are as follows:

EREES
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SRU0T

Attendance

)

Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick MBS 3/3
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEERE 3/3
Ms. Luk Mei Yan (appointed on 25 June 2021)  PE3ERE 4+ (202166 425 EE () 2/2
Dr. Wong Chi Wing (retired on 18 June 2021) FAEAEL(R20215E6 180 RE) 1/1

The works performed by the Audit Committee during the year included
the following:

— reviewing with the auditor on key audit and accounting matters, and
updates on regulatory rules in the auditor's Audit Committee Report
and the draft audited financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2021;

— reviewing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021 focusing on business highlights, any change of accounting
policies and practices, and compliance with accounting standards
and Listing Rules requirements;

— reviewing with the auditor the scope of their audit, their
communication plan, their independence, developments affecting
the Company’s business, their risk assessment and updates of
accounting standards and Listing Rules as affecting the Company for
the financial year ended 31 December 2021;

— reviewing the audit plan, audit progress report and significant audit
findings with management at all committee meetings;

- reviewing with management on implementation of the
recommendations on internal control made by the Internal Control

Consultant; and

— reviewing the risk management and internal control of the Group.
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The Committee is satisfied with the review of the work of external
auditors, their audit fees, results of their audits and has recommended
to the Board their re-appointment for the financial year ending on 31
December 2022 at the 2022 AGM.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Group and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company's affairs. During the financial year
ended 31 December 2021, the Company Secretary has duly complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules which requires the Company Secretary to take no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The biographical details of
the Company Secretary are set out in the section headed “DIRECTORS’
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILES" in this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy"),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute dividends
to the Shareholders. A decision to declare and pay any dividends would
require the approval of the Board and will be at their discretion. The
Board may from time to time determine and pay to the Shareholders
such interim dividends as it considers appropriate. The Board may
recommend the payment of final dividends which are required to be
approved by the Shareholders in general meetings.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company recognizes the importance of communication with the
Shareholders, both individual and institutional as well as potential
investors. The Company adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy
with an aim of ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with timely
information about the Company and enabling them to engage actively
with the Company and to exercise their rights in an informed manner.

The AGM also provides a good opportunity for communication between
the Board and the Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board, the
Chairman of the respective Committees as well as the external auditors
are normally present to answer questions as raised by the Shareholders.
Notice of the AGM and the related circular are sent to the Shareholders
at least 20 clear business days before the meeting.

Votes of the Shareholders at general meeting will be taken by poll in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Detailed procedures for conducting a
poll will be explained to the Shareholders at the beginning of the general
meeting to ensure that the Shareholders are familiar with the voting
procedures. Each issue will be proposed by a separate resolution by the
Chairman of the general meeting. The poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the same day of
the general meeting. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM").
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Procedures and right for the Shareholders to convene EGM

- An EGM shall be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company (the
"Eligible Shareholder(s)”) having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition;

— The requisition must state clearly the names of the Eligible
Shareholders concerned, specify the objects of the meeting, and
be signed by the Eligible Shareholders concerned. The Eligible
Shareholders must prove their shareholdings in the Company to the
satisfaction of the Company;

— The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements
under the Articles of Association to all the registered Shareholders.
On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order
or the Shareholders concerned have failed to deposit sufficient
money to meet the Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the
Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM; and

— If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Companies Law (Revised) of Cayman
Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles of Association, Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may by means of requisition convene an
EGM.
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Specific enquiries and suggestions by the Shareholders can be sent
in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
registered office. Shareholders are encouraged to access to the
Company website at http://www.cirtek.com for all relevant information
including Company’s announcements, press releases, financial
highlights, the Company’s constitutional documents and detailed
procedures for the Shareholders to convene meetings.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has a proactive policy for promoting investor relations
and communications by maintaining a regular dialogue with investors
and other stakeholders. The Company’s website at http://www.cirtek.
com also features a dedicated Investor Relations section to facilitate
communication with the Shareholders and investors. Corporate
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information are
made available electronically and in a timely manner.

Save for the adoption of the Articles of Association upon the Listing,
since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, there
had been no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company. The Articles of Association is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company during the year was investment
holding. The principal activities of the Group during the year were
manufacture and sale of apparel products, such as hang tags, woven
labels, printed labels and heat transfer products. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during
the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and review in the business activities of the Group, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group
and an indication of the likely future development of the Group's
business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 7 and pages
8 to 17 of this annual report, respectively. Certain key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group’s environment policies and
performance and its compliance with the relevant laws and regulations,
and an account of the Group’s relationship with its key stakeholders are
included in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”. The Company
will also publish its standalone Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 on the websites of the
Stock Exchange in due course. These discussions form part of this
“Report of the Directors”. The financial risk management objectives and
policies of the Group are shown in note 37 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year and the Company’s and the Group’s
financial positions at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 52 to 148.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend in cash
of HK$0.25 cents per ordinary share for FY2021. The final dividend
is conditional upon the passing of the relevant resolution by the
Shareholders at the 2022 AGM to be held on Friday, 17 June 2022.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the Group's financial information for FY2021 is set out on
page 4 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the year are
set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors are interested in any business apart from the
Group’s business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules during FY2021.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company did not have any connected transactions which were
subject to the requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during
the year. The related party transactions are disclosed in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during FY2021.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's securities throughout FY2021.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which could oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares during FY2021.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and in note 29 to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$252.6 million
(2020: HK$253.8 million). The share premium of the Company is available
for distribution or paying dividends to the shareholders provided that
immediately following the distribution or the payment of dividends, the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
14 June 2022 to Friday, 17 June 2022 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the 2022 AGM, all properly completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 13 June 2022.
The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
23 June 2022 to Friday, 24 June 2022 (both days inclusive), during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 22 June 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 17.0% (2020: 18.6%) of the total sales for
the year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to
11.3% (2020: 12.0%). Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 12.2% (2020: 10.7%) of the total purchases
for the year and purchase from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to 3.6% (2020: 3.7%). None of the Directors of the Company
or any of their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of
the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry
Ms. Law Miu Lan

Mr. Chan Tsz Fung

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAM Chor Ki Dick
Mr. LEE Tak Cheong
Dr. WONG Chi Wing
(retired from AGM on 18 June 2021)
Ms. LUK Mei Yan (appointed on 25 June 2021)

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, one-third
of the directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third,
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring director shall be
eligible for re-election. The Company at the general meeting at which
a director retires may fill the vacated office. According to Article 112
of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Article of Association, each of Mr. Chan Sing
Ming Barry, Ms. Law Miu Lan and Ms. Luk Mei Yan will retire at the 2022
AGM and all of them, being eligible, will offer themselves for reelection
at the 2022 AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong and Ms. Luk Mei Yan, and as
at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILES
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry (FREZRF), aged 62, being one of our
Controlling Shareholders and Chairman of our Board, was appointed as
our managing director in February 1992 and appointed as our Director
on 25 January 2019 and re-designated as our executive Director on
21 February 2020. Mr. Barry Chan is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Barry Chan is responsible for our Group's overall management,
corporate development and strategic planning. He obtained a higher
certificate in fashion and clothing manufacture from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in
November 1984.

Mr. Barry Chan has over 39 years of experience in the apparel labels
and trim products manufacturing industry. Mr. Barry Chan is the spouse
of Ms. Candy Law and the father of Mr. James Chan, who are both our
executive Directors.

Ms. Law Miu Lan (E##), aged 59, being one of our Controlling
Shareholders, was appointed as our assistant managing director in
September 1994, our Chief Executive Officer and Director on 17
May 2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 21
February 2020. Ms. Candy Law is responsible for our Group's overall
management, operation and strategic planning. She obtained a higher
certificate in fashion and clothing manufacture from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in
November 1984.

Ms. Candy Law has over 36 years of experience in the apparel labels and
trim products manufacturing industry. Ms. Candy Law is the spouse of
Mr. Barry Chan and the mother of Mr. James Chan, who are both our
executive Directors.

Mr. Chan Tsz Fung (BR#¥1£), aged 32, joined our Group in October
2013 as an operations assistant and is currently a product development
manager of Charming Printing Limited, a subsidiary of the Group
(“Charming Printing”). He was appointed as our Director on 17 May
2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 21 February
2020. Mr. James Chan is also a member of the Nomination Committee
and director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. James Chan
has over five years of experience in the apparel labels and trim products
manufacturing industry. He is primarily responsible for overseeing the
product development, marketing and strategic planning of our Group,
in particular our Group's sales and marketing activities in Europe. He
studied diploma of engineering at Deakin University from February 2011
to February 2012. He is the son of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law,
our executive Directors.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick (##Z#), aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020 and is currently
a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. He graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist University
with a bachelor’s degree in business administration in November 1990.
He then obtained the master of arts in electronic business from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2003.

From July 1990 to October 2000, Mr. Lam held various accounting and
finance positions in a number of companies including AIA Group Limited,
Inchcape Marketing Ltd., LeaRonal (S.E.Asia) Ltd., Elite Business
Machines Mfg. Co. Ltd., Dong Ying Computer Label & Embroidery
Company Limited and AFG Company Limited. From November 2000
to January 2005, Mr. Lam served as a financial controller at Lexmark
International (China) Co., Ltd., a company principally engages in the
provision of printing and imaging products and software solutions
services. From January 2005 to December 2005, he worked as a financial
controller at Fellowes Consulting LLC Dongguan Representative Office,
a company principally manufactures paper shredders. From January
2006 to November 2008, Mr. Lam worked as a director at Electrical
Components International Inc., a company principally manufactures
wire harness, with his last position being a finance and administrative
director and was the director of business administration at ECI (Huizhou).
From December 2008 to October 2010, Mr. Lam served as an operation
controller at Shakespeare (Hong Kong) Ltd., a company principally
manufactures sports hardware. From November 2010 to January 2012,
he served as a consultant at Resources Global Professionals (HK)
Limited, a consultancy firm. Mr. Lam has served as a vice president of
the asian operation department in ECI (Huizhou) since February 2012.

Mr. Lee Tak Cheong (Zf&£8&), aged 50, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020 and is currently
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee
graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in engineering in November 1993. He then obtained a postgraduate
diploma in quality management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2000. In December 2003, Mr. Lee obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong.

From April 2004 to December 2007, Mr. Lee worked as a general
manager overseeing factory management at Mansfield Manufacturing
Co. Ltd., a company primarily engaged in metal stamping business.
From December 2007 to June 2009, he served as a general manager at
Top Link Industrial Co. Ltd., a company primarily manufactures electric
powered tools. From September 2009 to August 2014, Mr. Lee started
working as a general manager at Charming Printing and was promoted
as an operational director in April 2012. From October 2014 to the
present, Mr. Lee has been serving as a director overseeing the business
management at Dreamcubics 3D Printing Limited, a company primarily
sells 3D printers and provides 3D printing service.
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Ms. Luk Mei Yan (F£3£2.), aged 57, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 June 2021 and is currently the Chairman
of Audit Committee, a member of each of the Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Luk acquired her
bachelor of commerce (accounting) from Curtin University of Technology
in August 1996 and associate diploma in accounting from Adeliade
College of TAFE in Australia in May 1993. Ms. Luk was admitted as
a certified practicing accountant of the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants in March 1998 and was certified as an associate
of Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in July 1998.

From November 2013 to December 2016, Ms. Luk was appointed as
an independent non-executive director and the chairman of the audit
committee in Eprint Group Limited (Stock code: 1884). From July 2008
to March 2019, she had also worked as the group financial controller
of Golden Sun Home Products Limited. Since February 2020, she has
served as accounting manager in Advanced Finishing Systems (HK)
Limited.

Senior Management

Mr. Chew Yong Hock (E%%&), aged 63, was appointed as the sales and
marketing director of Charming Printing in July 2012. Mr. Chew obtained
a higher stage certificate in salesmanship and sales management
from The London Chamber of Commerce and Industry in spring 1984.
Mr. Chew has more than 29 years of experience in the apparel labels and
trim products manufacturing industry.
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Mr. Fung Hong Keung (5&3&), aged 59, was appointed as Chief
Financial Officer of Charming Printing in February 2021. From 1992 to
2011, Mr. Fung held various financial position in a number of companies
including Integrated Display Technology Limited, a subsidiary of IDT
International Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 167)), Sanmina-SCI (China) Limited, a subsidiary
of Sanmina- SCI (NASDAQ stock code: SANM) and a subsidiary of
Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 420). During the period from
2011 to 2012, Mr Fung worked as the Chief corporate service officer of
HED ORI #EAAEBRZAE], a subsidiary of the Hong Kong Productivity
Council. From 2012 to 2016, Mr Fung worked as executive director, chief
financial officer, company secretary at eprint Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:1884), which
primarily engaged in supplying online printing services and customized
printed products. From 2017 to 2020, Mr Fung worked as chief financial
officer at Tung Chit Tobacco (H.K) Company Limited, a subsidiary of
Tung Chit Group Limited, which primarily engaged in distribution and
manufacturing of PRC-branded cigarettes.

Mr. Fung obtained a bachelor degree of arts in accountancy from the
Bolton University of Higher Education in the United Kingdom in October
2003, and a graduate diploma in China marketing and e-business from
the University of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing
Education in November 2004. He was awarded the Professional
diploma in Corporate Governance and Directorship from the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors and Hong Kong Productivity Council in November
2012. He has been a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants since December 2004, a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2005, and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors since January 2013.

Mr. Richard Phillip Ringeisen, aged 63, was appointed as the president
of Charming US in February 2011 and is the director of Charming US.
Mr. Ringeisen studied at the Western Michigan University from 1979
to 1980. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ringeisen worked as a western
region sales manager at US Label Corporation, a company primarily
sells and markets apparel identification products, from 1999 to 2001.
Mr. Ringeisen worked as a sales manager in the western region of the
United States at Alkahn Labels Inc, a company primarily engaged in the
sales business, from 2001 to 2003. Mr. Ringeisen then worked as a vice
president at 28 Packaging Inc, a company primarily engaged in the sales
and marketing business from 2003 to 2008. He later worked as a vice
president at Integra Trim, a company primarily engaged in the sales and
marketing business from 2008 to 2010 where he was responsible for
overseeing and managing the sales business of the company.

Mr. Liao Wenwei (E3{&), aged 53, was appointed as the general
manager of Charming China in August 2009. He obtained a diploma in
business administration from the Huizhou University in July 1997. From
April 1992 to July 2000, Mr. Liao worked as a salesman at Huizhou
Jiangbei Building Material Company* (BN T4LE# A7), a company
primarily engaged in the trading business, with his last position being a
manager. Mr. Liao then worked as a factory manager at Boluo County
Shiwan Chuangmei Printing Factory* (BESAERIZENRIK) from
August 2000 to July 2009.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Wai Shing Kevin (BR1EF), aged 47, was appointed as the
finance and accounts manager of Charming Printing in February 2016 and
the company secretary on 17 May 2019. Mr. Chan obtained a diploma
in accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University (formerly known
as Shue Yan College) in July 1998. He was then awarded a diploma in
operating business in China and a diploma in professional management
for China business from the City University of Hong Kong in April 2004
and October 2004, respectively. Mr. Chan has been a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since August
2008 and a member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administration since February 2010. In view of Mr. Chan's experience in
legal and company secretarial functions and with stock exchange rules
and regulations, our Directors believe that Mr. Chan has the appropriate
expertise for the purposes of Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2022 AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the provisions
of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements, or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party during the
year.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

A.

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporations

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares of
the Company (“Shares”), underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they have taken, or are deemed
to have taken, under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company; or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code"”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations

S E
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Chan Sing Ming Barry ~ The Company Interest in a controlled 1,308,000,000 65.4%
("Mr. Barry Chan ") corporation (Note 1) (Note 2) shares
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Charming International Limited Beneficial owner 51 shares of 51.0%
(“Charming International”) US$1.00 each
Charming International Limited EnlEA 511R
(['Charming International |) R .00 AR
Law Miu Lan The Company Interest in a controlled 1,308,000,000 65.4%
(“Ms. Candy Law") corporation (Note 1) (Note 2) shares
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Notes:

1. Each of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law owns as to 51% and 49% of the issued
share capital of Charming International which, in turn, holds 1,308,000,000 Shares.
Accordingly, Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law are deemed to be interested in
1,308,000,000 Shares held by Charming International by virtue of the disclosure
requirements of the SFO.

2. Mr. Barry Chan is the spouse of Ms. Candy Law. Accordingly, Mr. Barry Chan and Ms.
Candy Law are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other by virtue of
the SFO.

Short positions in shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of
the Directors and/or chief executives of the Company nor their
associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
each of them has taken or deemed to have taken under the SFO), or
which would be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register required to be kept therein or which would be
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Substantial shareholders’ and other persons’ interests and/
or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company

As at the date of this annual report, the following persons (other than
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company) have interests
of 5% or more in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company
as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 21 February
2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). On 15 September 2020, the
Company granted a total of 2,000,000 shares options with an exercise
price of HK$0.057 per share under the Share Option Scheme to one
of our senior management carrying rights to subscribe for up to a total
of 2,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company under the Share Option
Scheme. The details are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.
50% of the 2,000,000 share options granted shall be exercisable from
31 December 2021 (instead of 1 January 2022) to 14 September 2025,
and the remaining 50% shall be exercisable from 31 December 2023
(instead of 1 January 2024) to 14 September 2025. The 2,000,000
share options granted are valid for 5 years from the date of grant (up
to 14 September 2025). The said share options granted will be lapsed
automatically if not exercised within the validity period. The closing
price of the Shares before the date of grant of the share options under
the Share Option Scheme was HK$0.059. As at the date of the Annual
Report, 200,000,000 Shares are available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme, representing approximately 10.0% of the total number
of Shares in issue (i.e. 2,000,000,000 Shares as at the date of the Annual
Report). Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and Rule 17.03(5) of the
Listing Rules, the Shares under an option granted under the Share Option
Scheme must be taken up within 10 years from the date of grant of the
option. No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
during FY2021.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time. No options may be granted under any schemes of the Company or
the subsidiary of the Company if such grant will result in the maximum
number being exceeded. The total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the Shares in issue (i.e. 200,000,000 Shares as at the date of
this annual report). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme or any other schemes will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the 10% limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options granted under Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares
then in issue. Any further grant of the options in excess of this limit is
subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. Each grant of
option under the Scheme to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder, or to any of their associates, is subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive Directors. In addition, any
grant of option under the Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from the
date of the grant of the option. The Directors may, at their absolute
discretion, fix any minimum period for which an option must be held, any
performance targets that must be achieved and any other conditions that
must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised upon the grant of an
option to a participant.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option granted under
the Scheme, subject to any adjustments made in accordance with the
Share Option Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet for the five business
days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option (which must be a business day (as defined in the
Listing Rules)); (ii) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option
(which must be a business day (as defined in the Listing Rules)); and (iii)
the nominal value of the Shares. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable
on acceptance of the offer of the grant of an option.

The Scheme is effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the
Listing Date.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by or subsisted in the Company, and there was no provision
to enter into any agreement which will or may result in the Company
issuing shares during the year.

DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company or chief executives or any of their spouse or children under the
age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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INTEREST OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

In accordance with Rule 3A.19 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed Elstone Capital Limited (“Elstone"”) as the compliance adviser.
As notified by Elstone, compliance adviser of our Company, neither
Elstone nor any of its close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
and none of the directors or employees of Elstone had any interests in
the share capital of the Company or any member of the Group (including
options or rights to subscribe for such securities, if any) which is required
to be notified to the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules as at the date
of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as the auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2021. A resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the 2022
AGM.

By Order of the Board
Chan Sing Ming Barry
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Cirtek Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cirtek
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 52 to 148, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2021 Annual Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BUE R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

BREEE

REFRIREESNERAE - RAHAH
MEREMBRRNBARAREENER - 2EFH
RESERBREAVBHRR LML H AR RRE
CEHZEERREHEBNER - st Tt
BEME @ BFNETNAEESEEENHEHLTD
Rt 5= -

B HE
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EaEF—SHRMANEE - BFEEZSFEEED
BE - 188 - EENES TERERTREYR
AR & A7 R A EE AR BR o [ B T AR AT VAR ©
EEFRTEMEF(BREE TRAERMANITHE
FIHERRBERA WBIRRER B RIRHER

statements.

Key audit matter
BRENSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENETNMEEERETEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

2 2 BUGRRRNBER G

As at 31 December 2021, the Group recorded trade
receivables of approximately HK$53,895,000 before
impairment of HK$203,000. Under HKFRS 9, the Group
accounted for the impairment on trade receivables with an
expected credit loss (“"ECL") approach. The measurement
on the Group's trade receivables under the ECL approach
was estimated by management through the application of
judgements and use of highly subjective assumptions. The
impact of current economic factors, and forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors were also considered in
management’s assessment of the likelihood of recovery from
customers.

20216128318+ BEEHFE S EKRFIEL53,895,000
78 7T (F0BR R E203,000/8 7T ) - BIBFBH B MEERE9
5 ESRENAHBEEEE(FEREEERE]FESE SRR
RIEREARK - NEHEEEESAFE BXEZEZEKGIE
THEEREFBERAEReEFHRBELME - EREHK
B1% P RIEN A e PTERT B B B IR BER RN TZE AR
BB ANREAELEE -

Due to the significance of trade receivables and the application
of significant judgement and estimates, we considered it as a
key audit matter.

HRESREFEEERX - BERAERAE KT EER
RERBAEETEE -

The related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BB BE RN AR A ISR M4 5 20 -

Our audit procedures included assessing the controls
over the monitoring of trade receivables; evaluating the
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by the Group
in calculating the ECLs; understanding and discussing with
management for judgement used under the ECL approach;
assessing historical loss pattern and reviewing subsequent
settlements after the year end; and assessing the current
economic condition and forward-looking information by
checking to the economic indicators.
EENEAEFEETRERE S BUGRIANEZEEE : &7
7 BEEERAEEHGEEEFEREANSE  BAERR
& HERERRRIRENEEBEET R : &
HREEBEEEARRFREEHNEEENER  REBRERL
BRI B AT B MR R ATHE L& X -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BRENSE

BREBEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
TENENMEEBERENSE

Provision for inventories

FERE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group recorded inventories of
approximately HK$65,112,000 and write-down of inventories
to net realisable value of HK$782,000 was recognised during
the year. The write-down of inventories to net realisable value
was estimated by management through the application of
judgement and the use of highly subjective assumptions, such
as the estimated selling price.

72021F12H318 © BEHEEHSFEX65,112,0008 7T © I
PG R BERTF B MUR = 7] 2 3R 5 {8782,000/8 7T © 7 B MUK Z Al
BRFETHEREEARAAEGRSE FBBRRMEL MG (A
et EEK) o

The related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BRBRBEHNRA M BHRERMF4R19 -

Our audit procedures included obtaining an understanding of
management'’s controls over identifying and valuing obsolete,
damaged, slow-moving, excess and other inventory items
whose costs may not be fully recoverable; evaluating the
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by the Group
in calculating the provision; assessing the inventory provision
by reviewing subsequent sales and usage after the year end
and checking the latest selling price; and observing physical
condition of inventories by performing physical inventory
inspection.

EENENRTEREREBEYNZFIRE - 812 FiH -
BEREAT—ERI 2B BN EMFEERE R ETEE
WERRE Tt BESBERGEREBRAARE BABER
BR BRNFREEHNEZRHEERERBERTEFERER
RESIHHEER  URBAETEYFERSEETFEN
FEHMAR

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2021 Annual Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BUE R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BE R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2021 Annual Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BUE R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

o A4S 32
meiEn
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021512A31HIEFE

2021 2020

20214 20204

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

Bt 3E FHET T

REVENUE Uk 5 6 362,513 259,314

Cost of sales SHERKA (204,503) (129,117)

Gross profit EF 158,010 130,197

Other income and gains E A K W g 6 6,550 9,694

Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERAS (45,790) (36,451)

Administrative expenses THR® (95,143) (78,247)

Other expenses HEmFx (120) (7,413)

Finance costs A& KA 8 (2,253) (2,381)

Listing expenses WX 7 - (10,607)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE AR R 7 21,254 4,792

Income tax expenses FrisfiA 1 (6,270) (3,145)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE KA @A AEEER R

TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 14,984 1,647

EARNINGS PER SHARE ARATEEAELBREF HK cents HK cents

ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF B4l Bl

THE COMPANY

— Basic —EK 13 0.75 0.09

HK cents HK cents

Al AL

— Diluted — s 0.75 0.09

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2021 Annual Report



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mAEREWER

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021512A31BIEFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FHBT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEREF 14,984 1,647
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hib2mElE
Other comprehensive income that REZBEBAIEENDES
may be reclassified to profit or loss B E M2 E R
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences: M ZH
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BEGINETSELER
operations, net fEH RS 29 4,938
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ARATHEEAEEFER
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 2HEWN AR
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 15,013 6,585

HFEZERERAT ¢ 2021 FERSE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARE AR R
As at 31 December 2021
20216127318

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
=4 THET FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE K& 14 110,800 90,980
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 15 40,577 43,117
Prepayments and deposits TETRIE kiR & 21 4,766 6,560
Goodwill EES 16 1,532 1,523
Other intangible assets EhmpaE 17 977 270
Financial asset at fair value BATEFABRN
through profit or loss SRBE 18 5,599 5,404
Deferred tax assets BLEFIAEE 26 407 402
Total non-current assets JEmBEELE 164,658 148,256
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories T8 19 65,112 52,943
Trade receivables = A e 20 53,692 36,724
Prepayments, deposits and AR -« ke &k
other receivables HAth i Y R OE 21 15,385 8,143
Cash and cash equivalents BENBEZEEY 22 102,101 114,743
Tax recoverable aJ Uk [l 7 1E 80 883
Total current assets MENEELE 236,370 213,436
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Trade payables B SR RIE 23 55,763 34,651
Other payables and accruals HihEN B R ESTE 24 39,932 30,665
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STESRITER 25 13,622 20,530
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 11,417 12,107
Tax payable JERT IR 7,854 3,766
Total current liabilities MBI A EEE 128,588 101,719
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEFE 107,782 111,717
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERAERRBAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 272,440 259,973
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Other payables H fth FE T 5RIE 24 626 750
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T BERITIE R 25 - 633
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 21,109 21,340
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEAE 26 1,039 1,124
Total non-current liabilities MBI A ERTE 22,774 23,847
Net assets BEFE 249,666 236,126
EQUITY Em
Equity attributable to owners of RATEE AELER
the Company
Share capital A% A 27 20,000 20,000
Reserves (G 29 229,666 216,126
Total equity B 249,666 236,126

CHAN Sing Ming Barry [REZEH
Chairman and Executive Director

FRERATEE

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2021 Annual Report

LAW Miu Lan ZEY#
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= A\ B L 45
GAEREDR
Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021512A31BIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARER AER
Share  Exchange
Share Share Merger option fluctuation Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits equity
KA B3 aE BHRE  ERERE NERDRE RE R EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tz T T Tz T T
(note 27)  (note 29(c))  (note 29(a)) (note 28)  (note 29(b))
(H27)  (MaE29(c)  (PH7E29(a)) (WizE28)  (BIzE29(b))
At 1 January 2020 12020F1 418 - 201,488 (193,538) = (5,526) 141,546 143,970
Profit for the year FRER - - - - - 1,647 1,647
Other comprehensive FREMEANE
income for the year
Exchange differences on translation AERNEBEER
of foreign operations, net EXERFE - - - - 4,938 - 4,938
Total comprehensive income for ENE2EYEEE
the year - - - - 4,938 1,647 6,585
Issue of new shares pursuant to REE K EITHRG
the capitalisation (note 27(b)) (MizE27(0)) 15,000 (15,000) - - - - -
New shares issued pursuant to RERHBERTHRR
the share offer (note 27(cl) (FizE27(c)) 5,000 120,000 - - - - 125,000
Share issuance cost RO BEITRRA - (29,437) - - - - (29,437)
Equity-settled share option arrangement  [RAEE B EZH
(note 28) (MizE28) - - - 8 - - 8
Special dividend BRIRS = = = - - (10,000} (10,000)
At 31 December 2020 and 120205128318 K
1 January 2021 20211718 20,000 2717,051*  (193,538)* 8* (588)* 133,193* 236,126
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - 14,984 14,984
Other comprehensive FREMEARS
income for the year
Exchange differences on translation AEEIEBEER
of foreign operations, net EXZEFE - - - - 29 - 29
Total comprehensive income for FR2ERRAS
the year - - - - 29 14,984 15,013
Equity-settled share option arrangement  [RA &S B RIER 5
(note 28) (Mf3E28) - - - 27 - - 27
Final dividend (note 12) KA 8 (FizE12) - - - - - (1,500) (1,500)
At 31 December 2021 M2021E12A318 20,000 2717,051* (193,538)* 358 (559)* 146,677* 249,666

*

#

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$229,666,000 (2020:

HK$216,126,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Less than HK$500

* REREMBRRE - ZEREREERS H15229,666,000%8

7E(2020%F : 216,126,000/ 7T) °

# L RB500/E 7T

HFEZERERAT ¢ 2021 FERSE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ll‘m/\fﬁzﬁlﬂbiﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021512A31HIEFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHExT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KETHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax R 250 A e A 21,254 4,792
Adjustments for: MATREELAE -
Finance costs B A AR 8 2,253 2,381
Interest income FEWA 6 (264) (1,419)
Gain on disposal of items of property, LEWE - BEREE
plant and equipment, net 18 B M R 5E 6 (178) (687)
COVID-19-related rent concessions *EHAARNCOVID-1947
from lessors AHSESR 6 (304) =
Depreciation of property, plant and VI - BE MRIEITE
equipment 7 16,373 14,902
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b A 7 38 -
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use RILTEREEAEN
assets, net W H R 7 (5) (63)
Fair value (gain)/loss on a financial AT EFABEN
asset at fair value through profit or SHMEEZRATE
loss (Ueax) /B8 7 (196) 1,333
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 7 10,658 10,510
Impairment losses on trade receivables %%EEH&%\EE’\J?)@EE%E 7 49 1,397
Provision for inventories T8 7 782 1,466
Equity-settled share option expense H§$%§§5§W%Eﬁ§ 27 8
Amortisation of a government grant BT 78 B 5 5H (145) (135)
50,342 34,485
Increase in inventories FEEM (13,845) (8,087)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables & 5 EURIE (3L H0), /5 (17,130) 10,435
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, AR « 2 REMER
deposits and other receivables ,TAIE(i"?JD)//JESZ/J\ (5,172) 4,409
Increase in an amount due to the FEA B %5 IR A Bl 5RIE
ultimate holding company 90 - 22
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 2 SR FIEE i, O d) 9,978 (2,566)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HMENRIBERESER
and accruals o, Cd) 21,802 (1,428)
Cash generated from operations RS PTSIR & 45,975 37,270
Purchase of a financial asset at BE ?ﬁ@ﬁfﬁ.ﬁ)\?ﬁlﬁnﬁ'}
fair value through profit or loss PREE - (6,737)
Hong Kong profits tax paid EH%T & 15 50 (677) (9,816)
Overseas taxes paid BHEINHEE (755) (338)
Net cash flows from operating activities #&&EEAEIR TR EFE 44,543 20,379
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZFH2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B 4B 264 1,419
Purchases of items of property, plant BEYE  BENMXEHEBE
and equipment, including a related (BFE—IBEEENFIE)
prepayment (35,454) (23,077)
Additions to other intangible assets NEHMBETEE (732) =
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME  BENRIEEB
property, plant and equipment KT8 5K IE 551 1,722
Acquisition of a business Hﬁzﬁﬁ—lﬁiﬁ% - (1,899)
Payment to acquire right-of-use assets U BB (F FARE A E R — (249)
Repayment from a director —HBEFEXR = 290
Net cash flows used in investing activities &% &;EBFFAR S ME F5E (35,371) (21,794)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERETRBR

2021 2020
20214 20204F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
=2 FE T T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETHZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares, BT M FTS 50E
net of expenses ($0BRFIR) = 95,563
New bank loans FIIRITE - 4,580
Repayment of bank loans EBRITER (7,541) (4,143)
Interest paid [=EREESS (2,253) (2,381)
Principal portion of lease payments HENROARETH (10,391) (11,297)
Dividend paid BEfIRE (1,500) (10,000)
Repayment to directors MEFER - (403)
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing B &EBN(FTA) A5
activities RemneEF5 (21,685) 71,81
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH B4 BRESZEYWORL)/
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B HNEER (12,513) 70,504
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning E¥R&RRELEEY
of year 114,743 43,807
Effect of foreign exchange rate [ERBEN S EF5E
changes, net (129) 432
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S XBE£RELZEY
END OF YEAR 102,101 114,743
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRESEEWERDN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B& MIRTTES 22 42,683 55,510
Time deposits TEHIFR 22 59,418 59,233
102,101 114,743
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company is
Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1103, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business
of the Company is located at 1/F, Wing Ming Industrial Centre, 15
Cheung Yue Street, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Group’'s subsidiaries were principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sale of printing products.

For the listing of the Company's shares, the Company underwent a
group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”), further details of which
are set out in the Company's prospectus dated 28 February 2020.

On 12 March 2020, the shares of the Company were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”).

Charming International Limited (“Charming International”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"”) on 2
January 2019, is the immediate holding company of the Company,
and, in the opinion of the Directors, is also the ultimate holding
company of the Company.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2021 Annual Report
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R BT 5
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1. RAREEER(EZ
Information about subsidiaries /B A =l HYE R

AARMBARNFEHIIOT :

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
ML, BRILER/
AREHE AR = i 2 affRA APRRMERRA DT TEEH
Direct Indirect
B R
Cirtek Investment Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
EEELHS (E REER
Charming Printing Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
SXERIBRAR BB 10,0008 7T HEENRIE @
Charming Printing (Boluo) Ltd. (note (a)) People's Republic of US$6,234,178 - 100  Manufacturing of printing
BESTENRERAR (M) China (“PRC") 6,234,178% T products
HEAREME ([HE]) EERER
Charming Trim & Packaging (VN) Co., Ltd  Vietnam US$3,100,000 - 100  Manufacturing of printing
e 3,100,000F 7T products
EEERIER
Charming Trim & Packaging Company Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Dormant
Limited &k 2% NiE:E3)
Charming Trim & Packaging (BD) Ltd Bangladesh BDT50,000,000 - 100  Manufacturing of printing
)l 50,000,000 products
RIAER EENRER
Charming Trim (BD) Co. Ltd Bangladesh BDT5,000,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
EIEa 5,000,000 3RS ENRIZE T
RIMAER
Charming Trim India Private Limited India INR100,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
HE 100,000E0E & it HHE NI m
Charming Trim & Packaging (PVT.) Limited Pakistan PKR100,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
BEHA 100,000 3RS ENRIE T
EBEAHEL
Charming Trim & Packaging, Inc United States of US$10,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
America 10,000% 7T and provision of
ENBERE customers services

HERIERRERHRER
b7
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1. RAREEER(E

ME A RNER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
ML/ ERTEER/
AR ERE affitin B R & S B AffRA ARBEEEREADL TEBEK
Direct Indirect
Ef GiE
Lowatag Limited Hong Kong HK$150,002 - 100 Investment holding
BE 150,002/ 7T REER
Charming Europe BVBA Belgium EUR50,000 = 100  Provision of customer
LS 50,000BR T services
REE P RS
Charming Printing (SZ) Ltd (note (b)&(c)) ~ PRC RMB50,000 - - Provision of customer
A EERFERRBEAERAR (M0 R  HE AR#50,0007T (2020: Nil) ~ services
(c)) (2020% : &) REXPRE
Cirtek Link Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
FERERBRERAR BB 10,000/7T BAER
Cirtek Link (Shenzhen) Limited (note (b)) ~ PRC US$1,000,000 - 100  Provision of customer
BERRWE(RIDARAR (KED)  FE 1,000,000 7 services
REZPEY
Charming Trim Etiket Limited Sirketi Turkey TL10,000,000 - 100  Dormant
THE 10,000,000 WEER
TEHEN
Charming Trim Italy SRL I[taly EUR10,000 - 100 Provision of customer
EAA 10,0008 7T (2020: Nil) services
(2020F - &) REFFRY
Charming Trim & Packaging Sociedad Guatemala (GTQ499,900 - 100  Provision of customer
Anonima e S A 499,9001& 3 54 (2020: Nil) services
BER (2020% : &) REZPRE
Charming Trim Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V.  Mexico MXN2,600,000 - 100  Dormant
27T 2,600,000 8FE T HE (2020: Nil) ~ Wiz
(2020% : &)
Charming Trim Lanka Limited Sri Lanka LKR1,000 = 100  Dormant
HELRS 1,0008r EHREL (2020: Nil) ~ YfmEss
(2020% : &)
Notes: B E
(a) This entity is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the laws of the (a) ZEBRERBEVAZFMAIGBERE -
PRC.
(b)  These entities are registered as limited liability companies under the laws of the PRC. (b) ZREEBRRBFEZEIMABRETEAR
(c)  The entity is deregistered during the year. (c) FHEEBNFANN-
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 REEE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which
include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss which has been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between shareholders of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

ZEUBREDEREB A ((FEE
R RS DA EEM B RS LR ([ FEH
%ﬁ%ﬁﬁHME%%ﬁé%%%ﬁ%ﬁW*
BEFER([HEEE L] RBRE) - &
@%2&@%&%% BMERDIR I BE R E 4R

%c

REVBRRTIBELKAERE - MERAF
B ABaNEREEARATERE - %%
BIEMERAETINE - FRE BRI - AR
BEABREREONTA(TATT) °

REANBREE

FEVBBRREEAEEEZE2021F12H31
HIEFENEHRE - HIBARERAARE
ESHEEHNER(BEABEERE) - BX
SEBASELEHRNEBEB MAE]Z
EFmREKKEEZ AR ZRHR - WHBED
ERHFEH RN FAEEER G
ﬁu;%&ﬁﬁ%mmﬁ%ﬁmﬁﬁ%ﬂ%/
EZ L O REF - AR RIERIEHIE -

EARFEEKFREELIRBREHRASH
BRERIELERN - AIAEERFEEERE
HRERBHEERIEZE—HEBEENRE
A Il%é

(a) BREHSHEMEEEFTAEANANL
73K

(o) REEMADLBHRERN : &
() AEEHRERESBERTRE

P8 X ) O B 7 R R T B AR R R R — ﬁi
HRmRE  XEMA— ﬁm Jﬁﬁ (RN
ZEBAAEEBGEFEER @ék%
WHERA ABREEZIERIERIERE AL -

REREMZIUES SERHABSREE

NEEE A RIS A5 S  BDE L,
15 B B RIS BB AL B8 - FT A B
FEEREL MR BHEENEERSE - #
&= WA A RBEEREEREE ARRS
EE -
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year's financial statements.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

(early adopted)

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2021 Annual Report
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an existing
interest rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-free
rate (“"RFR"). The amendments provide a practical expedient
to allow the effective interest rate to be updated without
adjusting the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities
when accounting for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the
change is a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark
reform and the new basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis
immediately preceding the change. In addition, the amendments
permit changes required by the interest rate benchmark reform
to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any
gains or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with
through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and
recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide
a temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately
identifiable requirement when an RFR is designated as a risk
component. The relief allows an entity, upon designation of the
hedge, to assume that the separately identifiable requirement
is met, provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk
component to become separately identifiable within the next
24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity
to disclose additional information to enable users of financial
statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark
reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management
strategy.

22 &

<

T

(a)
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars based on the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") and other foreign currencies
based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR") as at
31 December 2021. If the interest rates of these borrowings
are replaced by RFRs in a future period, the Group will apply the
above-mentioned practical expedient upon the modification of
these instruments provided that the “economically equivalent”
criterion is met.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends the
availability of the practical expedient for lessees to elect not
to apply lease modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
by 12 months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies to
rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022, provided the other conditions for applying the practical
expedient are met. The amendment is effective retrospectively
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
at the beginning of the current accounting period. Earlier
application is permitted.

The Group has early adopted the amendment on 1 January 2021
and applied the practical expedient during the year ended 31
December 2021 to all rent concessions granted by the lessors
that affected only payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022 as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic.
A reduction in the lease payments arising from the rent
concessions of HK$304,000 has been accounted for as a variable
lease payment by derecognising part of the lease liabilities and
crediting to profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021.
There was no impact on the opening balance of equity as at 1
January 2021.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

2.3 EEMEERERNE BB BIREER

AR F I AR FE D AT B BB (E AR AR

The Company has not early applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: T R ET E S B IS R e |
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the BB ERELER BEoNELR AP
Conceptual Framework! EXLHACCHEN)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BB RS REEZHABZ N A]
and HKAS 28 (2011) between an Investor and its F105k BB ST A B EZ A
Associate or Joint Venture® AR5 285 BEMLERFE?
(20114F) (BETAR)
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts? BB ERE LR 1RER & #9?
F75R
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts? ® EAM S EL REEA 4925
FN7HUBETR)
Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 BB IERELER|F17 5 A EH BB ER
and HKFRS 9 — Comparative $RUBETAN) EERE1 7R E
Information? ¢ BRI R EERIE9
F—IERE 826

Amendments to HKAS 1 BB EREISR FHEESERTEL

Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current?* (BETA) FETEp? 4
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies? EBeHERE 1R S5FHFRE?
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 BB EmEER
BB 25%
CCHEN)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates? EB e ER|F8E AT EZR?
(1BETA)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and ER G ERE125 HE—XFELHE
Liabilities arising from a Single ({&5TAN) EMEEHBE
Transaction? AEFIE?
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: EB G| Y - BERRE - #E
Proceeds before Intended Use' F165% (1BFTAN) TEfHS B BTSN

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of BEGTER|FEI7TIR EEMAL—ETE

Fulfilling a Contract’ CCHEN) Kol:0) %N
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, BB R ER| BBMEHEER
HKFRSs 2018-2020 HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples 2018 220204 E15% - BBUH
accompanying HKFRS 16, and L FE U HELERIZE R -
HKAS 41 &8 B s AR
ENTA e N
Pl R BAGFLER

FAVR(ERTA)!

720221 A1 B2 B FAEFE B AR

0 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 1

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 2 A2023%F1 A1 H 1R R EFE BRE AR
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption 3 W ARFEE R B A A H - MR AR
4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 4 EHE ST ERFE 15 (B R) B EBR B LRI KR

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan K2 — EHNA G E I EK(EE G ERE A
ZHER2020F 10 AEITIERT - LAEIEEREBHRIE — 2
i e am I % 2 B

BB BREERE 175 (EFTA) R2020F10 8
- ABEEMBRELRNFEAFEER - UBEREE
B AFRBARN202351 A1 8 Z AR FEEL
FHEAE B ERIEINMIEBRBUBRELERE
B

BERGMAREITBBMEREERE 175 - AR
BRERBEBMBREERFEN7REH L RBREZ5 M
SREERBOREL)

that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align
the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

L As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 5
was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS

39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

g The HKICPA amends HKFRS 17 to permit a classification overlay for financial assets 6
presented in the comparative period on initial application of HKFRS 17

HFEZERERAT ¢ 2021 FERSE 65



66

NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
p s E R

31 December 2021
2021F12H31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3
an exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or
a liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a
business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 January 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after
the date of first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new
mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion
of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an
entity’'s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the
entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period
if it complies with those conditions at that date. Classification of a
liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement
2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in
the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group
is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on the Group's
accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The
amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related
to leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those
items, in profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied
retrospectively only to items of property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period
presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials)
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as
well as contract management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to
contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application
without restating the comparative information. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments
to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lIllustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS
16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to be
applicable to the Group are as follows:

e HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or
modified financial liability are substantially different from the
terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender
on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to
financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity
first applies the amendment. The amendment is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not expected to
have a significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

e HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from
the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in lIllustrative
Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives when
applying HKFRS 16.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations other than those under common control
are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value, which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liguidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or a liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of
in these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of
the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Company the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Company considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power

over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Plant and machinery 10%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed
at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and
are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises
lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-
of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings
Plant and machinery

2 to 30 years
10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, and payments of penalties for termination
of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of
an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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BRI M

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. IEeiHHEME(E)

(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HEE)
Group as a lessee (Continued) K5 B 13K

(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on
equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are also recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefit associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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BRI M

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a) Sale of printing products

Revenue from the sale of printing products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the printing products.

Some contracts for the sale of printing products provide
customers with rights of return. The rights of return give rise to
variable consideration.

(i)

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the Group
estimates the goods that will not be returned using the
most likely amount method to predict the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates
of variable consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be included
in the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be
returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover
products from a customer.

Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during
the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract.
Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the
customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the
expected future rebates, the most likely amount method is
used for contracts with a single-volume threshold and the
expected value method for contracts with more than one
volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts
the amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by
the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract.
The requirements on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied and a refund liability for the
expected future rebates is recognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Freight and transportation income is recognised when the services
have been provided to customers.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods to the customer).

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured
at the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any
expected costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases
in the value of the returned goods. The Group updates the
measurement of the asset for any revisions to the expected level
of returns and any additional decreases in the value of the returned
goods.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or
all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer and
is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have
to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at
the end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“Equity-Settled
Transactions”).

The cost of Equity-Settled Transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in note 28 to the financial statements.

The cost of Equity-Settled Transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for Equity-Settled
Transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes in Hong Kong and overseas for those employees who
are eligible and have elected to participate in the schemes.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’'s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the schemes, except for the Group's employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the memorandum and bye-laws of the relevant companies
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’'s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in
fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to
those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rate for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and
assessing the constraint for the sale of printing products

Certain contracts for the sale of printing products include a right
of return that give rises to variable consideration. In estimating
the variable consideration, the Group is required to use either the
expected value method or the most likely amount method based on
which method better predicts the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the most likely amount method is the
appropriate method to use in estimating the variable consideration
for the sale of printing products with rights of return, given the large
number of customer contracts that have similar characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Group considers whether the amount of
variable consideration is constrained. The Group determined that the
estimates of variable consideration are not constrained based on its
historical experience, business forecast and the current economic
conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable consideration
will be resolved within a short time frame.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Useful lives and impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its items of property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and its competitor actions. Management
will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are shorter
than those previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete assets that have been abandoned.

The carrying value of an item of property, plant and equipment is
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable in accordance
with the accounting policy as disclosed in the relevant part of this
section. The recoverable amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment is calculated as the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use, the calculations of which involve the use
of estimates.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the apparel
product sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in
the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade
receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

Write-down of inventories

Management reviews the condition of inventories of the Group
and makes provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventory
items which are identified as no longer suitable for sale or use.
Management estimates the net realisable value for such inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review at the end of
each reporting period and assesses whether any provision made
against obsolete and slow-moving items. Management reassesses
the estimation at the end of each reporting period.

The identification of obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact on
the carrying values of inventories and the write-down of inventories
recognised in the periods in which such estimates have been
changed. The carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December
2021 was HK$65,112,000 (2020: HK$52,943,000).

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
December 2021 was HK$1,532,000 (2020: HK$1,523,000). Further
details are given in note 16.

Purchase price allocation of a business combination

The purchase price allocation of the Group’s business combination,
as detailed in note 30 to the financial statements, requires the
determination of fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. The net assets acquired, include amongst others,
property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets, of which
their fair values are dependent on a range of estimates including
estimated future cash flows of the underlying business, discount
rate and interest rate. Given the uncertainties in the estimation, the
actual outcomes may be higher or lower than the estimated fair
values of these items as at the date of acquisition. Where the actual
outcomes of these items are different from the amounts initially
recorded, such differences may impact the future financial results.
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P e e
5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. K&EHHWER
For management purposes, the Group has only one reportable EEENMS  AEEERE AR 2HRES
operating segment, which is the manufacture and sale of printing S BNAEEREEERIER °
products.
Geographical information 35 &
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) SMEBEFWMas
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Hong Kong BB 74,336 60,364
Mainland China ESREASpz ik 119,547 76,026
Bangladesh Fami kv 46,772 28,660
Vietnam B 22,800 13,109
United States ESE 23,238 16,249
Others Hith 75,820 64,906
362,513 259,314
The revenue information above is based on the locations of the i S BRI TR IR R PR 25 ©
customers.
(b) Non-current assets (b) FEREEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Hong Kong BB 2,714 4,709
Mainland China f B A 97,561 99,246
Bangladesh )ik 29,422 13,452
Vietnam [ 10,246 12,666
Other countries H B 17,353 10,710
157,296 140,783
The non-current asset information above is based on the Ll 3EREN & E B R IIIRIE & E AT i AR
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments and 2 W TAEREERTANELERBEE -

deferred tax assets.
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31 December 2021
2021412318
5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. REHHER(E)
Information about a major customer BERETEEFHNER
Revenue from a major customer, including a group of entities which KEMAEBRZFI1I0%IA LH—BFERE
are known to be under common control with that customer, which (BRECHMEZREHAREZEHN—EEE)RN
accounted for 10% or more of the Group's revenue is set out below: WESE=HH AR -
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Customer A ZEA 40,853 31,150
The revenue from the above major customer was all derived from e LiFERFPMRSIEL B HENRIE
the sale of printing products. an °
6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. Wz - Hitlg AR W&
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after WEiEEMBREE ESMNRENEEEE
allowances for returns, trade discounts and rebates. HEEMMBEEE -
An analysis of the Group's revenue, other income and gains is as REER W - A RS TAT
follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEHNWa
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) Wz 256 EF
Types of goods or services EmyiRisiEa
Sale of printing products 55 BNl 2 G 362,513 259,314
Geographical markets 35 T 45
Hong Kong B 74,336 60,364
Mainland China B 3D 119,547 76,026
Bangladesh w1k 46,772 28,660
United States = 23,238 16,249
Vietnam B 22,800 13,109
Others Hith 75,820 64,906
362,513 259,314
Timing of revenue recognition T SR U 2 Y B 7S
Goods transferred at a point in time RE —FHZERY
B 362,513 259,314
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued) 6. W& HWARKE(E)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) BEEEHWE (&)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i) Wa=Zl7HER(E)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised TRINTAREYFTFAESHBENEERK
that were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of W&
the year:
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Sale of printing products S5 ED Rl E G 6,511 3,979
(i) Performance obligations (i) BRIEIT
Sale of printing products 25 & EJfl 2 an
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the BHEERRZNENRIEMBER - MTR
printing products and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 —RARFRFFI0Z0KRAEE - EFE
days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment F—RBRHELNK - A& OTRES
in advance is normally required. Some contracts provide BRERE  EAAXBRHAAERE -
customers with a right of return which gives rise to variable
consideration subject to constraint.
As the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or B702021 4 20205 12 A31 BEA T K=
partially satisfied) as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are part of B Bk B0 5 EE K B B 40 & 1 /5 JR € T8 HA 4 A
contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or B—FXAANEN 2 —H5  WIBES
less, the transaction price allocated to such is not disclosed, as B TSRS R 155 A Rl TR E A UAFT
permitted by the practical expedient in HKFRS 15. R WERBESEZABEONRZSE
1% o
2021 2020
2021 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Other income and gains H g A R i
Freight and transportation income BB MERWA 1,594 462
Interest income A B WA 264 1,419
Sale of scrap materials SHEBEEME 2,188 1,410
Government grants* XA e B * 341 4,332
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME  BEKZEEREEB
plant and equipment, net Uk 28558 178 687
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use RIETERFERAREE
assets, net Ry = F B 5 63
COVID-19-related rent concessions from KA T AKICOVID-1948
lessors He@d= 304 -
Fair value gain on a financial asset at BERAFEFABRHNESREE
fair value through profit or loss NEERZE 196 =
Others HAth 1,480 1,321
6,550 9,694

* As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, there were no unfulfilled conditions or other
contingencies attaching to the government grants that had been recognised by
the Group.

*  R2021% K%2020%512A318 + AEEE R
JI 48 B S 5 B 5 R 32 B O AR R Sl EL fh B SR SR o
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB AT
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REEMBRF DS NSNS (GTA) T3 &I1E
1RIESL -
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 THET FHT
Cost of sales” SHE R AR 204,503 129,117
Depreciation of property, plant and Y  BERKETE
equipment 14 16,373 14,902
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEERE 15 10,658 10,510
Amortisation of other intangible assets H{th 8 A £ 17 38 -
Short-term lease expenses SHHERY 15 777 821
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERMAZ (TR
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): EEHM(MIFE9)) ¢
Wages and salaries TEKGS 124,138 94,396
Pension scheme contributions BIRBETEIMERK
(defined contribution scheme)** * (REMHKETE])*** 12,744 4,465
136,882 98,861
Government grants** RS B * * (341) (4,332)
Auditor’'s remuneration % B 3 A 2,078 2,152
Listing expenses X - 10,607
Foreign exchange differences, net* e EE SRR 71 4,683
Impairment of trade receivables* B 5 e WK I R A * 20 49 1,397
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE  BEKKREE
plant and equipment o€ (276) (687)
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use RILERERAEEERN
assets, net Wz 558 (5) (63)
Fair value (gain)/loss on a financial asset 1RAF{EzT ABZEH
at fair value through profit or loss** SRMEEATE
(Wzs),/E5iE# (196) 1,333

These items are included in “Other expenses” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

**  The government grants have been received from the local government. It mainly
represented compensation of the unemployment insurance paid to the local
government and the acquisition of the Group’s new machines, whose compensation
are transferred from deferred income to profit or loss over the useful lives of the
relevant assets, and the government grant from the Employment Support Scheme
from the Hong Kong government in respect of COVID-19 related subsidies during the
current year. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these
grants.

*** There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the employer to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

& Cost of inventories sold includes HK$67,082,000 (2020: HK$52,485,000) of employee
benefit expense, and depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets which are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed above
for each of these types of expenses. Included in cost of sales was also provision for
inventories of HK$782,000 (2020: HK$1,466,000) for the year ended 31 December
2021.

Ll This item is included in “Other income and gains” (2020: “Other expenses”) on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
year were as follows:

B R R M EE
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RIEMA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: AKX
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Interest on bank loans IRITE AL 606 854
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 1,647 1,527
2,253 2,381
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION 9. EERFETHAEMS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed BIEETHRA - HERQA 1‘%415‘]%38/3\(1)(@) °
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of (b) ~ (Cl&(f”'%u&/&ﬁ(ﬁﬁ"gﬁ%@_ﬁﬁ*@ﬁ
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BIE2BEBENAFEEERFEETHABM
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is ST ¢
as follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHT
Fees e 585 516
Other emoluments: HuE -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EBREYEH 3,306 2,119
Performance related bonuses KIBIEEEICAL 1,800 1,800
Pension scheme contributions BIRSETEIME R 52 49
5,743 4,484
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIFEHITES

FAXNTBLIFRTEENRSAT

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHxT FHT

Dr. Wong Chi Wing* FEEE L 132 206
Ms. Luk Mei Yan** FES= B Ar x> 93 =
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEBELE 180 155
Mr. Lam Chor Ki, Dick WL A 180 155
585 516

Resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect from 18 June
2021

**  Appointed as an independent non-executive director with effect from 25 June

2021

There were no other emoluments payable to independent non-
executive directors during the year (2020: Nil).

* %éﬁ%&%ﬁ#%ﬂﬁ§$ * B20214F6A18B#4
s

> BRZERBUINITES  B52021F6H25H
FEAERR

FERILEEN TIBIENTTE SR E BB
% (20204 : £E) °
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31 December 2021
2021F12H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION 9. ESRIFETHAEME(E

(Continued)
(b) Executive directors (b) HITESE
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
e 2HR 30 Bife
He BNEA HEfta ST L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TAL THx ThL THET
Year ended 31 December 2021  EZ2021F12A310 LEE
Mr. Barry Chan FREEER 4 A - 1,773 800 18 2,591
Ms. Candy Law 30l e - 1,220 800 18 2,038
Mr. James Chan yed S - 313 200 16 529
- 3,306 1,800 52 5,158
Year ended 31 December 2020  #Z2020F12A318 L EE
Mr. Barry Chan BERLE - 1,042 900 18 1,960
Ms. Candy Law BYEaL - 838 900 18 1,756
Mr. James Chan BRI EE - 239 - 13 252
- 2,119 1,800 49 3,968
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or FRN - EEWMEF L THERESRREME
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2020: Nil). RT3 EN (20204 : 4E) -
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the FRN - AREBRERAEEZNEHEW - ER
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or IAZRER B3k hn A FF B B2 B Sk RE R A 15 -

as compensation for loss of office.
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B R R M EE

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. EEEEFHES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2020: FR - AEZREFESBEEMA(2020F : M
two) directors of the Company, details of whose remuneration are BIRNRNBEE  HHEMFBIHR E X9 -
set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year BT =H(2020%F : ZR)ARAIIEEERE
of the three (2020: three) remaining non-director, highest paid HRERANFEENTMMEEISIE LT :

employees of the Company are as follows:

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMREMERN 6,422 5,344
Pension scheme contributions RIKEETEIE K 339 289
6,761 5,633
The number of the non-director, highest paid employees whose BRUATHMAR N IEESS S ES ASM
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: o
2021 2020
20214 20204
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ T 2,000,000/ 7T 2 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001787C22,500,0007 7T = -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,00178 7T 23,000,000/5 70 - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 7T £3,500,000/5 70 1 -
3 3
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of ERX - AEEGERTAFEESSTSFEESX
the non-director, highest paid employees as an inducement to join or B - VB A DDA ZN 5 B 5 00 A B B 22 B 5k B
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2020: B (2 (20204 : &)
Nil).
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2021612A31H

11. INCOME TAX

11.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI. Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of
the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2020: HK$2,000,000)
of assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2020:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%). PRC tax has been provided at the rate of 256%
(2020: 25%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC
during the year. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United
States, a company which is treated as a corporation for the United
States federal income tax purposes was subject to tax at a rate of
21% (2020: 21%) at the federal level during the year and was also
subject to the statutory corporate income tax in state and local tax
jurisdictions. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates.

FRiE®E

BRIEFEHE R ABREZESHA KA -
REBMBERHSHEE R EBE TS HN
EAMEH - ER - BAFNEHERNES
EERNMEFTRERRF1%16.5% (20204F :
16.5% ) T REHR B - HASE —HWEB R
RIBRAN - ZMB AR AFAEFEHMAFNE
B2 o ZMB AR E%2,000,0007% 7T (20204 :
2,000,000 7T ) K & 7R 7 2 7128.25% (2020
F :8.25%) MR RET - 82T BRI & F Al
1%16.5% (2020%F : 16.5% ) MIFE KT - R EH
T 18 T Bk 6 A FR B E A O 5 B AR B0 F1I%
T & 25% (20204F : 25% ) 5T 8B4 - BIEE
B8 B KRB - R SLEE IS TS HE M S AR
BEBEDSERNRAIAEL21 %85 K (20204 :
21% ) BB B - INEBUAR MY Rt J5 T A
AUARERAVATE RS - EEMM SR
R A AN TR B I AR B E IS AT A
BEROERHETE -

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FaxT FHT
Current — Hong Kong BNER — B

Charge for the year FAMT 2,415 1,233
Overprovision in prior years RBEFEBEEE - (770)

Current — Elsewhere BHA— E fh [
Charge for the year FRRAX 3,941 2,294
Deferred (note 26) BRI (M17E26) (86) 388
Total tax charge for the year FRHRIBF T A5 6,270 3,145
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 1. FIiEH(E&E

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax

AR IBOA TE o0 28 P A Ak T BT D ) 0 75 2 ) 2 2

at the statutory rate to the tax charge at the effective tax rate is as

REERBREOHIRFR S E RO

follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FaxT FHT
Profit before tax B 750 A1 e A 21,254 4,792
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% BOEEME16.5% T EFHIE 3,507 791
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority 5 & BB MBI R (1,842) (165)
Effect of different tax rates for different TREEEETRF RN E
jurisdictions 1,417 778
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BT HAIRANERF 1B
previous periods FRYEL By A% - (770)
Income not subject to tax BAERBBEA (492) (1,726)
Expenses not deductible for tax AN A 3,179 3,246
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BESHFNE S AR BEEE (173) -
Tax losses not recognised RER R IAEE 728 954
Others A (54) 37
Tax charge at the Group's effective tax rate BRAREEERERIE29.5%
of 29.5% (2020: 65.6%) (20204 : 65.6%)aTHE &
HIE R 32 6,270 3,145
12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Proposed final dividend — HK0.25 cents EREAPRE —SRETER
(2020: HK0.075 cents) per ordinary share 0.257%11 (20204 : 0.075
L) 5,000 1,500

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

FEEBAARSAFARRBRRNERERER
BEERE ERE -
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31 December 2021
2021F12H31H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$14,984,000 (2020: HK$1,647,000) and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 2,000,000,000 (2020: 1,903,005,464) in
issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the share options
outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per
share amounts presented.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2021 Annual Report

13. AR BHEEANEIEEBREF

BREABHESBIERRAREE ABIGE
A 4 F1] 14,984,000 7T (20204 : 1,647,000
BIL)URFEANE BHITL R MEFHH
2,000,000,0000% (20204 : 1,903,005,4644%)
FTE o

HREARITENERESE2NERELRR
FEEAE REERE - B E S m A
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERREE

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor  Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
MENEEE FRE R BRREE AE EEIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THx T THT THT THx
31 December 2021 20215125318
At 1 January 2021 202151718 :
Cost KA 15,649 205,567 7,953 2,399 - 231,568
Accumulated depreciation 2iHTE (8,640) (123,316) (7,142) (1,490) - (140,588)
Net carrying amount FEEE 7,009 82,251 811 909 = 90,980
At 1 January 2021, net of R2021%1A18
accumulated depreciation MR 25 E 7,009 82,251 811 909 - 90,980
Additions WE 1,977 19,091 1,334 288 14,297 36,987
Disposal HE - (159) (1) (213) = (373)
Depreciation provided during the £ A3 E (5 (Fi17)
year (note 7) (970) (14,462) (579) (362) - (16,373)
Exchange realignment B 5 AR (309) 285 (350) 1 (48) (421)
At 31 December 2021, netof 20214124318
accumulated depreciation NREFHE 7,707 87,006 1,215 623 14,249 110,800
At 31 December 2021; R2021612A318 :
Cost AR 17,353 221,308 8,960 2,476 14,249 270,346
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (9,646) (140,302) (7,745) (1,853) - (159,546)
Net carrying amount FEFE 7,107 87,006 1,215 623 14,249 110,800
31 December 2020 2020512318
At 1 January 2020: 120201418 :
Cost KA 14,817 173,459 7,069 2,615 - 197,960
Accumulated depreciation 2iHTE (7,462) (106,432) (6,169) (1,338) = (121,401)
Net carrying amount FEEE 7,355 67,027 900 1,277 - 76,559
At 1 January 2020, net of 202061 A18 -
accumulated depreciation MBREE 7,355 67,027 900 1,277 = 76,559
Additions NE 673 26,066 715 - - 27,454
Acquisition through business ~ FBEKEAGHET IS
combination (note 30) (M7E30) - - 163 - = 163
Disposal HE - (1,021) (14) - - (1,035)
Depreciation provided during the Ry EBA (fis7)
year (note 7) (1,128) (12,467) (956) (351) = (14,902)
Exchange realignment A% 109 2,646 3 17) - 2,74
At 31 December 2020, netof 20204128318 -
accumulated depreciation R E2:HE 7,009 82,251 811 909 - 90,980
At 31 December 2020: 72020%12R318 :
Cost A 15,649 205,567 7,953 2,399 - 231,568
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (8,640) (123,316) (7,142) (1,490) - (140,588)
Net carrying amount REFE 7,009 82,251 811 909 = 90,980
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31 December 2021
2021F12H31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14. Y%« BERRE(E
At 31 December 2021, certain of the Group's plant and machinery R2021F 128318 A&EEEREFEL A
with a net book value of approximately HK$5,172,000 (2020: 5,172,000/ 7t (20204 : 5,695,000/ 7T ) )&
HK$5,695,000) were pledged to secure certain of the bank loans of THERKEDIEM  UESETAEEE
the Group as detailed in note 25. TFHRITER(GFBERME25) -

15. LEASES 15. fAE
The Group as a lessee AREBIEAEEA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings, and AEBRZEREYARBE KEEBEERE
plant and machinery used in its operations. Leases of plant and HEAH  UHHZEMA - BB R#ENHE
machinery generally have lease terms of ten years, while buildings E-—REMATE mMEFHNHE-—RERR
generally have lease terms between two to thirty years. Generally, ZE=FF - —BmE AEETARAER
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased MIONATEZERDBEAEEE -

assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) (EHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the AEBFANFERAEEENFEEENLES N
movements during the year are as follows: N
Plant and

Buildings machinery Total
BT EE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR
As at 1 January 2020 #2020%1818 35,891 22,595 58,486
Additions NE 4,093 - 4,093
Lease modification HEERT (1,427) = (1,427)
Depreciation charge (note 7) TERZ (M) (8,106) (2,404) (10,510)
Derecognition RIERER (1,263) (8,664) (9,927)
Exchange realignment [ 5 R 1,632 770 2,402

As at 31 December 2020 and ®2020% 124310 &202141 818
1 January 2021 30,820 12,297 43,117
Additions NE 7,598 - 7,598
Depreciation charge (note 7) TERZ (M) (8,801) (1,857) (10,658)
Derecognition R ERER (477) - (477)
Exchange realignment B 5 AR 633 364 997
As at 31 December 2021 ®2021%12A31H 29,773 10,804 40,577
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15. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

15. HE(E&)
REBMEAEBA(E)

(b) HERE

HEEENREERFANZLSNT

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Carrying amount at 1 January A1 A1TBEMEREE 33,447 41,835
New leases S 9,519 3,844
Accretion of interest recognised F R FI SN
during the year 1,647 1,527
Lease modification HEEET - (1,427)
Payments (NES (12,038) (12,824)
Termination of leases KIEHRE (482) (1,326)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from R E A ARCOVID-1948E
lessors HEBER (304) =
Exchange realignment [EE 5 % 737 1,818
Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31 BHEREE 32,526 33,447
Analysed into: DT
Current portion MENEB S 11,417 12,107
Non-current portion IEmENE D 21,109 21,340

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 37 to

the financial statements.

Certain of the Group's lease liabilities were guaranteed by
unlimited corporate guarantees given by the Company as at 31

December 2021 and 2020.

W -

FEIRFTYER -
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15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are

15. HE(E
REBMEAEBA(E)

c) WEZETHERALEEFHENSHNT

as follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HESENE 1,647 1,527
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENEMX 10,658 10,510
Expense relating to short-term leases iR E G MRS
(included in administrative expenses) (GFATTERAY) 777 821
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use RIEBREREEERD
assets, net W 25 58 (5) (63)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from R E HF ABCOVID-1948Rd
lessors HeE=R (304) =
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBRERNESRE 12,773 12,795

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31(c) to the

(d) MENRSTHARERERUBHRERME

financial statements. &il@) @
16. GOODWILL 16. IHE
Total
Wy

HK$'000
FET

Carrying amount: BRIEI(E -
At 1 January 2020 202061 A1 H -
Business combination (Note 30) X545 0F(KizE30) 1,523
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 7202012 A31H X% 20211818 1,523
Exchange realignment RIS 9
At 31 December 2021 2021912 A31H 1,532

Impairment testing of goodwill B KR ERIR

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit acquired (note
30) has been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a seven-
year period approved by senior management, with reference to the
expected useful lives of the property, plant and equipment and the
intangible assets. The discount rate for the cash-generating unit
applied to the cash flow projections is 14.1% (2020: 14.5%) for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

The long-term growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the
cash-generating unit beyond the seven-year period is 2.0%.
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16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. BE(#)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued) BERENR(E)
BZE2021F12ANBIEFE AAERESESE
BUMNEBEBEEEREERRK U THAEERERE
HATRE B AR E R R A 3R 7 2 T8RP AR IR
& EEZME -

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
cash-generating unit for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
following describes each key assumption on which management has
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

FEERAREFE - AR EE S EREE
WARENREBENEERNTIHEXNFH
WARENE  SEMHSERMBE -

Budgeted revenue and gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted revenue and gross margins is
the average revenue and gross margins achieved in the markets,
adjusted for expected market development.

B % — PR AR R AR BLAT AR % -

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax.

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. HttERLEE

Licences

i)

HK$'000

31 December 2021 2021128318 FHIT
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated 2021451 A1 BHIERA « Nk Rt # 5

amortisation 270
Additions NE 732
Amortisation provided during the year (note 7) F R (FEET7) (38)
Exchange realignment ERREE 13
At 31 December 2021 #2021412A31H 977
At 31 December 2021 1202112831 H

Cost XA 1,016

Accumulated amortisation Rt (39)

Net carrying amount BREFE 977
31 December 2020 2020%12A31H
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of accumulated 72202041 A1 BHOACKR - kR Rt A

amortisation -
Acquisition through business combination BRERS OHEITIREE (F5E30)

(Note 30) 270
At 31 December 2020 72020912 A31H 270
At 31 December 2020 and at 1 January 2021 7202012831 H X2021F1 818

Cost BN 270

Accumulated amortisation Rt =

Net carrying amount REFE 270

The intangible assets represent computer software acquired from
independent third parties, which have finite useful lives of 10 years

and are amortised on a straight-line basis.

BEERRERBIE=
BRAMERFHRI10F - WABREEH

TR - H
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18. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

18. BAFEFABENEREE

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET T

Key management insurance contract FEEBEABRBEN 5,599 5,404
Analysed for reporting purpose as: BREBHNDNE

Non-current assets EREBEE 5,599 5,404

The key management insurance contract was mandatorily classified
as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss as its
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.

Note:

As at 31 December 2021, the key management insurance contract represented life
insurance plans with investment elements relating to one member of key management
personnel of the Group. The total sum insured is US$2,000,000 (2020: US$2,000,000)
(approximately HK$15,500,000) with an annual minimum guaranteed return of 2%.

As at 31 December 2021, if the Group withdrew from the insurance contract, the account
value, net of surrender charges of US$137,000 (approximately HK$1,066,000) (2020:
US$140,000 (approximately HK$1,089,000)), would be refunded to the Group. The amount
of surrender charges decreased over time and was no longer required from the 19th year of
contract conclusion onwards.

IEEBEASRBRANNANRSRELIFE
RINAERANE - WEFRE D EREAF
B ABSEHNEREE

UG

M2021F12831H  TZEBRABRBRELNEAZREE
B ERREARASE—REIEEEABMNRERSD - BR
#8/42,000,0003% 7T.(4915,500,0007 7T ) (20204F : 2,000,000
) FEREREFEERR2% °

R2021F 128318  MAKRBERERBREL @ AIRFEE
(40K 3B (R B 137,000 7t (491,066,0005% 7T ) (2020 4F -
140,0003 7T (#41,089,00077T) ) ) H§ iR B FANEM - RIRE
FASEEREER - RNENRIEEEI19FRRETHN -

19. INVENTORIES 19. 78
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET T
Raw materials Rk 18,275 15,404
Work in progress T2 17,215 20,472
Finished goods RUAK T 29,622 17,067
65,112 52,943
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

20. E5EWFIE

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHxT FHT

Trade receivables B 5 EIE 53,895 36,889
Impairment VEAIE] (203) (165)
53,692 36,724

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally within 30 to 90 days from
the date of monthly statements. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

AEETBEUNEESAEERFIILE S K
R MEMBRP —RBERENK - FEH R
RAFEEDREA30EI0RA - FEEFE
R EERE ANEHRARREEETHE
Bl - AEBEWAREE ZRUFIRESRITE E
EAmREMERILRER - S RBKHA
TEFE ©

RBERR  REBXFEAHNE S EKRE
(FNERBRBE) BRI DT T -

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Within 1 month —@ARAR 32,952 19,298
1 to 2 months —Z/EA 15,540 12,362
2 to 3 months mZE=1E A 2,854 3,150
Over 3 months BE=1MEAa 2,346 1,914
53,692 36,724
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31 December 2021
2021F12H31H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

20.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

B2 RURIEE)

B2 REGERENEREEZERNT

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$°000 HK$'000

FBxT T

At beginning of year F9 165 348
Impairment losses (note 7) BB EE (M) 49 1,397
Amount written off as uncollectible 887 BT U [B] A SR IE (11) (1,580)
At end of year FR 203 165

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography). The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2021

REWmE B PRABBRBREREETREST - K
SAEEHEEER - BEXERAGRUER
B (BZR) &5 PR D e 8 B 8
B ZEtERRIAXNESR  BRBER
RSB SNERBESRR - EEGX
RREEGHTRRNEIBRAISEER o

T 5 A SR D D B A0 5
HET EERREE -

120215128318

Past due
ki
Current 1to30days 1to3 months Over3 months Total
BE 12308 1238R EiB3{EA st
Expected credit loss rate BHEEHER 0.15% 0.21% 1.23% 3.78% 0.38%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) ERaB(TET) 33,303 13,062 6,191 1,339 53,895
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEER(TEL) 49 28 76 50 203
As at 31 December 2020 720205128314

Past due
Current 1t030days 1to3months  Over 3 months Total
il 1230A 123f8A EiB3fEA @t
Expected credit loss rate BHEEERR 0.23% 0.33% 1.15% 2.92% 0.45%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) REAETETL) 21,567 9,795 4,431 1,096 36,889
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) RHEEBR(THET) 50 32 51 32 165
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21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21. ENRIE - RERHMEWRIE

2021 2020

20215 20204

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

B 5E FET FHET

Prepayments SEERE S 10,260 8,642
Deposits and other receivables BE R H A EWGKIE 9,891 6,061
20,151 14,703

Less: Non-current portion B IERBE D (a) (4,766) (6,560)
Current portion mENE D 15,385 8,143

Note: B EE

(a)  The amounts mainly represent prepayments for the acquisition of property, plant and

equipment and the non-current portion of rental deposits.

The Group has applied the general approach to provide for expected
credit losses for financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables. The Group considers the historical loss rate
and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data in calculating
the expected credit loss rate. The Group has classified financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables in
stage 1 and continuously monitors their credit risk. The financial
assets included in the above balances related to receivables for
which there was no recent history of default and past due amounts.
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the loss allowance was assessed
to be minimal.

@) FHSBEXERUEDE BEREENEMREAR
HEZSNIFREIS °

REBERA —BAXBRTABGRE - BZE& K
Hip R EN S mEEELEHEEEER
e AEBFERHEEERXRERBES
BRIIZAEERHCESIREL AR - A&
EEHFABNRE « RE R HEtERKIEN
TREESD BB R WHEEREEFEER
B o AT A Ll A5 SR H) & B0 & 2 Y AR B FE W KB
WA B AR R BB SR - R2021F &
202012 A31H ' BEBEHTIEATERK -
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22.

23"

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22. RERREEEY
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Cash and bank balances e RIBTTEES 42,683 55,510
Time deposits TEHATF R 59,418 59,233
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIESEEY 102,101 114,743

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“"RMB") amounted to
HK$4,210,000 (2020: HK$4,846,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between fourteen days and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalent approximate
to their fair values.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

23.

RBEHR  AEEUARE([ARE HE
MIRE MERTT 4R 54,210,000/ 7T (20204F
4,846,000/ 7T) - ARETSERKEIRAEM
B SR+ ARYER AR B A bt SN B IR (15 A K
HIE - EERMNESERE  AEBABEBR
REETINEXEBHRITHEARE SR AHME
?ﬁé} °

RITHSRERE HRITHF R R )2 EF =
REAE - EHERFRZHARNFTEOAE
=EA - BFAEENEEESFRIZIAREE
HFE BERERDMAR - RITERTFHNEE
Rif B I ET MR RALEREVIRTT - RERIRE
EEYHREEREL N FERS -

85 BARE

REIEHR - RIBFHZAHNE Z RN FER

2021 2020

20214 20204F

HK$'000 HK$’'000

T#ExT TFHET

Within 1 month — @B A 18,564 10,676
1 to 2 months —Z/MfEA 13,815 7,331
2 to 3 months mZE=1E A 10,026 6,899
Over 3 months HBiE=1E A 13,358 9,745
55,763 34,651

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
on 30 to 150-day terms (2020: 30 to 150-day terms).
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

24, HENRIER EFTEH

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k2 FTHET FHT
Other payables E e FIE (a) 8,673 2,461
Accruals fEZTE 20,284 21,550
Contract liabilities aBHEE (b) 10,975 6,511
Deferred government grant R REER T 7 B (c) 626 893
40,558 31,415
Less: Non-current portion B IERBEH S (d) (626) (750)
Current portion mENEE D 39,932 30,665

Notes: KisE -

(a)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have generally no credit terms. (a) EMEMNZETRES - — MBI EEEE -

(b)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) AHBEHBHOT :

31 December 31 December 1 January
2021 2020 2020
2021512831H 2020%12A31H 202051 81H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET FHT
Short-term advances received from customers [ % 5 WELH) 52 Hi AR 10,975 6,511 3,979
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver printing products AHEERER AR P AT ENRIE & AT U A 52 A
to customers. The increase in contract liabilities in 2021 and 2020 was mainly due to 02021 F R2020F B EE M EEARFRE
the increase in short-term advances received from customers in relation to the sales % 5 UCER 7 o8 5 ENR ZE 5 B9 A2 ER B BRI NPT B o
of printing products at the end of the year.

(c) The amount represents a government grant received from the Provincial Finance (c) BEALBEEARMNEVERBEIMABTHE - ZZEF
Bureau, Huizhou Province. This government grant is asset-related and is amortised B LEERBRNEREERERAFH(ENE201845
over the useful lives of the related assets, which is ten years since May 2018. FBEH10F M) #H -

(d) The amount represents the non-current portion of a government grant. (d BALEEBAHBNIERSIHS
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 25. ;T ERITER
2021 2020
20215 2020
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate per rate per
annum Maturity HK$'000 annum Maturity HK$'000
ERENR H5A Thx ERERIE H%A TAL
Current BER
Bank loans - unsecured (note (a))  $BTEF —EHR (M) 30%  Ondemand 9,347 3.0% On demand 14,347
Bank loans - secured (note (b)fi))  $F{TEF ~EER(HzEb)) 5.3% 2022 633 5.3% 2021 1,835
20225 2021E
Bank loans - secured (note (blfi))  BITEF —BHA(HEEDI) 25%  Ondemand 3,642 2.5% On demand 4,348
13,622 20,530
Non-current EFL]
Bank loan - secured (note (b)) FITER - BEAM ) - - - 5.3% 2022 633
2020
13,622 21,163
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET FHAT
Analysed into: bakiv=2
Bank loans repayable: EEZBRITER
Within one year or on demand —FERHIRER 13,622 20,530
In the second year F= - 633
13,622 21,163
Notes: B &
(a) The bank loans are guaranteed by unlimited corporate guarantees given by the (a) SRITEFRTIHAARATN2021FEK2020F12A3184F
Company as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. HYFER A RIEARFTHELR ©
(b) (i) Certain of the Group's bank loans are secured by plant and machinery with a net (b) () HMOBEB/EMF14F7MR  KE@IME FHRT

book value of approximately HK$5,172,000 (2020: HK$5,695,000) at the end of

the reporting period as detailed in note 14 to the financial statements.

(i)  The key management insurance contract with a carrying amount of (ii)
approximately HK$5,5699,000 (2020: HK$5,404,000) was pledged to secure

certain bank loans granted to the Group.

B K5 i R A B K AR DR .40 45,172,000 7T
(20204 : 5,695,000 7T ) KRS K # 25 4K 4 o

B8R TE {8 495,599,000 7% 7T (2020 4F : 5,404,000
TNEEEBABRBRENBER  UESRT
AEE 2 EFTRITER ©

(c)  Except for the certain bank loan which is denominated in United States dollars, all (c) METUETIHENRITERIN » B20214F K20204F
borrowings are in Hong Kong dollars as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause and based
on the maturity terms of the bank loans, the amounts repayable

25. SHRRITER(E)

WERMEIR ERERBEFO T EBARIFRTE
R BIHESR - REEAF S RITERZEE

in respect of the Group's interest-bearing bank borrowings were BRIESTAT :

analysed as follows:

31 December 31 December

2021 2020
2021%12H31H 2020912H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FH&T
Analysed into: DR
Bank loans repayable: EEBRITER ¢
Within one year —FR 5,339 7,541
In the second year E_F 4,242 5,339
In the third to fifth years, inclusive EZEFRF
(BREERME) 4,041 8,283
13,622 21,163
26. DEFERRED TAX 26. ELEFIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities are as follows: EERBEEZESHHT -
Deferred tax liabilities BB IEEE
Accelerated tax
depreciation
IR IETE
HK$'000
T
At 1 January 2020 7202061 A1 H 334
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated FREGABRRINBRN
statement of profit or loss during the EEF B (HIEE11)
year (note 11) 790
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 2020912 A31H &%20214F181H 1,124
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FRFALZEEZRD
statement of profit or loss during the EREFIE (FMHaE11)
year (note 11) (81)
Exchange realignment R (4)
At 31 December 2021 M2021%12H31H 1,039

HFEZERERAT ¢ 2021 FERSE
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2021612A31H

26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

26. ELERIIE(E)

Deferred tax assets EEFRIEEE
Lease liabilities
HE&E
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 January 2020 7120201 H1H -
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FARFTAGLEBERROELERE (M)
statement of profit or loss during the
year (note 11) 402
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 720209128318 &%20214F181H 402
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FRFTAGLEBERROELERE (M)
statement of profit or loss during the
year (note 11) 5
At 31 December 2021 M2021412H31H 407

The Group estimated unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$47,888,000 (2020: HK$45,669,000). Unrecognised tax losses
arising in Hong Kong and certain foreign operations of approximately
HK$10,725,000 (2020: HK$10,706,000) are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose.

The Group estimated tax losses arising from certain foreign
operations other than Hong Kong in an aggregate amount of
HK$37,163,000 (2020: HK$34,963,000) that will expire in five years
to twenty years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as, in the opinion of the directors, they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and in the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

No deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established in
Mainland China (2020: Nil). In the opinion of the directors, it is not
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with the investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
HK$16,428,000 (2020: HK$17,455,000).

There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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RNE B G 5T R R B E B 447,888,000/ 7T
(20204 :45,669,000/87L) - REBLETE
HNEETS EE A MY R FE R TR TH 518 4910,725,0007%8
7£(2020% :10,706,0005% 7T ) AJ £ R 2 B LA 4K
SHEEZE BB AR 2 KK ERT @A o

REBEFEEBBBAIINE TEBINER
ZTRIEEEA /537,163,000 7T (20204 :
34,963,000 7T) * ZEHEEBBERAFE
—+FEAEE - DARREEEZSEENR
A2 AR RERT A o

BEEZERA ARAMEBEBRDELABEREES
BRE-BRRNHEBAR - MEEFRR/AARR
FE AR Bt g A BT VR S IR B B AV AT BE 1 A
R WU E\AZEERERELERIAEE -

SR B N A S R BN TE AR A S [
B BB A B) A SR BB 5 1 k2 R SR TR 084 1 e SRR
JEFEIE (20206 : &) - EERA - LA R B
K ZENBRARTAKAIREDIRZERE © ™
AERECHERERPEALHEQRRE
HE R E5S £ 516,428,000/ 7T (20204 :
17,455,000/ 7T ) °
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. /AR
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
B 21T
R EHE (&N
HK$'000
FHT
Authorised: SETE
As at 1 January 2020 720201 A1H 3,800,000 38
Increase of authorised share capital with R2020%2 A21 B IR
par value of HK$0.01 each on RAZRREE0.01E T
21 February 2020 (note a) (Kf=xa) 4,996,200,000 49,962
As at 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 and 7202012 A31H 20214
31 December 2021 1H1B8 &2021412H31H 5,000,000,000 50,000

Number of
shares in issue Share capital
28T
gl 2 4= [N
HK$'000
FHT
Issued and fully paid: EETRAR
As at 1 January 2020 ®2020%1 811 250 -
Capitalisation of shares (note b) 1% 15 &A1k (Mi5EDb) 1,499,999,750 15,000
Shares issued pursuant to the share offer (note c) 1BIEARH 36 B 24T
(Bi&c) 500,000,000 5,000
As at 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 and #R2020F12 A31H * 20214
31 December 2021 1A18X&2021%12A31H 2,000,000,000 20,000

* Less than HK$500

*

A HR500/8 7T

HFEZERERAT ¢ 2021 FERSE

123



124

NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
p s E R

31 December 2021
2021F12H31H

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

On 21 February 2020, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased
from HK$38,000 divided into 3,800,000 shares to HK$50,000,000 divided into
5,000,000,000 shares by the creation of an additional 4,996,200,000 shares of par
value of HK$0.01 each.

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing of the shareholders of the Company passed
on 21 February 2020, the directors were authorised to allot and issue a total of
1,499,999,750 shares credited as fully paid at par to each of the holders of the
Company's shares whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on 21 February 2020 in proportion of their shareholdings by
way of capitalisation of the sum of HK$14,999,997.50 standing to the credit of the

share premium account of the Company.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 12
March 2020 and 500,000,000 ordinary shares were issued at HK$0.25 per share on 12
March 2020 in connection with the listing of the Company's shares on the Main Board

of the Stock Exchange.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the

scheme are included in note 28 to the financial statements.
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FaE

(a)

(b)

202052 A 218 » & B8R FHMN,996,200,0000% &
FREEO0.01/ 8 TTH AR + AR BIVAE AR 48 2 38,0007 7T
(5 /3,800,000 8% fi% 15 ) % /1 % 50,000,000 7T (5 &
5,000,000,0008% 82175 ) °

BIEA QAR FR20206F2 A21 HBAKERRE
R EEEBEBADARMEERE FHERSE
14,999,997.508 TR T E A - F A M 202052 421
B & SRR A RS 2 3I AR B R R &8 & AR AR
BB AR E R AR L AR B ] 31T & $£1,499,999, 750 A%
REEARSABR RN

ARAT DR 2020F3 B 12 AEBRAERES » HE
7202093 812 B Bt AR AR FROBE 2R AT £ 4R LT iz
FARA150.257% T % 17500,000,0000% & AR

fB AR tE

BRAARR R BRAE & LR B IR T BRI B EN
R&RHIFE28 ©
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 28. BRETE

A share option scheme (the “Scheme"”) was approved and adopted
by the Company on 21 February 2020. The purpose of the Scheme
is to enable the Company to grant options to selected participants
as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group. Unless
terminated by the Company by resolution in general meeting, the
Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take up
options to subscribe for the shares of the Company (“Shares”) under
the Scheme: (a) any employee or proposed employee (whether full-
time or part-time and including any executive Director), consultants
or advisers of, or, to the Company, any of the subsidiaries or any
entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which the Company holds an
equity interest (collectively, the Company, any of the subsidiaries or
the Invested Entity are referred to as the “Relevant Parties”); (b)
any non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of, any supplier of goods or services to, any customer
of and any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to, the Relevant Parties; and (c) any
Shareholders or any shareholder of any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by the Relevant
Parties. For the purposes of the Scheme, the options may be granted
to any company wholly-owned by one or more persons belonging to
any of the above classes of participants.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. No options may be granted under any schemes
of the Company or the subsidiary of the Company if such grant will
result in the maximum number being exceeded. The total number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue (i.e.
200,000,000 as at the date of this annual report). Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme or any other schemes will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the 10% limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options granted under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the Shares then in issue. Any further grant of the Options in
excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting. Each grant of option under the Scheme to a Director, chief
executive or substantial Shareholder, or to any of their associates,
is subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
Directors. In addition, any grant of option under the Scheme to a
substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue
at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company's shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, is subject to Shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

ANATR202092 A21 B #E /8 R IR IR RET
E([3Zat8E) - ZETEIME MERBHFAQT
MENKEN2HEERHERE  (FAEHEASE
E{EH BB EEI K E 3R - BRIEADBRIRR
AEELURBRRANKRIL - ZTEEE%BH
BET0FERHERE G -

EEA2RRBEREEEN TI2EERHNE
A AT ABRE - ARBZA SR THAR
At (RG] : (@ARR - EEFAMER
ASARBREFHEBRENEAER([RE
ERDNEAEEXBEER (THEBEE
B BREEAMTES)  BREIHEAAER
A EAMBARIKREERGES [BRA
T RbIBEEALNERMIERTES(REE
BIUEHITES)  EMEMIMBHER -
EREP REMAEBALTREHE - R
HAL R ST R EVER AL HERE - R(c)EMAR
R E AT 2 A B AR IR AT IR 8 B B =k
BRALBRTNEMNB S ZE[RFAA - i
sHEIfME - BRI TEN Ll E (28
BRI — B EBRALT 2 EERHERMAF -

R IERZ AT 8] K 2N 55 (3 £ ) L Ath BE AR T 213%
RETE MARITEBREMZEITHNRO RS E
EHTBBBARRFTEDEITRAZ30% °
WABREEESBESESEE @ BT RE
RATRAR BN B AR EIR L ER
HE o RIB LTS R AR D BE] E A 5T 2R T
Y BT 75 B A% 4 78 77 {50 1 A RE B2 1T MU AR 1D AR £k
TEBBEBEITRMNA10% (RAELR B HED
200,000,000%) - BEFE10%BREM S * 1B
ez et B sk () E At 5 B A9 IR 3R K 2 B AR
EETETEEN -

BIEZAT 8 R A E B E R ET 2 (R
BEAERMRITEMNBRE)REOERE
AR RERETT (18 PME 1218 B RS A A & 2 B
BEITRGEITHRDBEISBRAERD %
TRRDEIN% - E— TR FERBBELREREZ
BRI AR SR ENBREARE FibE - BIEZ
SEAES FETRABREERRSET
Al B B A\ B8R H BB AR A Y B B TB S JE 3L
TEEERIAEBRTIEE 1IN BRIBEZET
BIRAMEARI 121 B HARE 7 = B % R ok B 3 AT
EERHAMBEARDBERNEARENES
BITRMDEN0.1% kA EE (ERARARBRMHR
B HEIR B4 ) #8385,000,000/8 7T 2 (] &
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fE& o
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from the
date of the grant of the option. The Directors may, at their absolute
discretion, fix any minimum period for which an option must be
held, any performance targets that must be achieved and any other
conditions that must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised
upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option granted
under the Scheme, subject to any adjustments made in accordance
with the Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the average closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five business days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option (which must be a business
day (as defined in the Listing Rules)); (ii) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option (which must be a business day
(as defined in the Listing Rules)); and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

28. BRAEREI ()

S2EET BRHERIES HE5T28H AR AE
IRHE - BRI EE R BRI 2 RS
EELBAREREENREHME - AV EE
HERIL B R R B T 1T R B E R
AR AT EL A I 1 -

RIR LT 8133 H A (T BB AL HE AR BR IR 1D RO AR B
BEHESS2RMNBEET (UREZTEIE
EEMARE)  HZEERTEERTIEEN
e (EORBEERLEREAR(MER
EEA(EEREWRA)) /TR @A EH
RS ERERAROFHRHE : ()EHR
REBREAR(MWERLEB (TR WA
D) B R P B RERARUETE - Kiii)
BDEEE - ZERBHEBRESORAEINR
81.00%7T °

BREETE TRAEABKBRSHNERAE £
REAER -

VAT 2 R AT 81 TR T 4F A3 1) AR 1T 1682 O R A

2021 2020
20216 20204
Weighted Weighted

average Number of average Number of

exercise price options exercise price options

METTHEE BREHSE  METHTRE BREHE

HKS per share ‘000 HK$ per share ‘000

BRET T BRET T4

At 1 January R1A1H 0.057 2,000 - -
Granted during the year RERZHH - - 0.057 2,000
At 31 December ®12A31H 0.057 2,000 0.057 2,000

No share options were exercised during the years of 2021 and 2020.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2021 Annual Report

20214 [ 2020F AL SRR AE T TIE -



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

28. BBRAEREI ()

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: R

2021

Number of options

202145

Exercise price*

R E R ARITER B RETTEE XTI

Exercise period

BREHE TEEE* 1T
‘000 HK$ per share
R BB T
1,000 0.057 31-12-21 to 14-9-25
31-12-21%14-9-25
1,000 0.057 31-12-23 to 14-9-25
31-12-23%14-9-25
2,000
2020 20204
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE TEH
‘000 HK$ per share
T BRET
1,000 0.057 31-12-21 to 14-9-25
31-12-21&14-9-25
1,000 0.057 31-12-23 to 14-9-25
31-12-23&14-9-25
2,000
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights @ 114 2Rt % 3k AT AR 2 17 ok AR A 7 AR 72N 3R H SR (L

or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year of 2020
was HK$50,000 (HK$0.03 each) of which the Group recognised a
share option expense of HK$27,000 (2020: HK$8,000) during the

year ended 31 December 2021.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the
year of 2020 was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the

(7

RIRERR BRI TEBATRARE -
R 20204 [E & I BE AR 7 /9 2 & &50,0007%

TL(E710.03%8 L) « EFRAREBERE E2021
F12A31 8 L FERRERERSZ 27,0007

JC(20204F : 8,000/8 L) °

M2020F EE X H MR A A E B REN QT
EDRERLESRER - ERREEEES - W
EREHBEREO R MR REE - TRE
SR P E A AE

model used:

2020

20204

Spot price (HK$) REE(ET) 0.055
Exercise price (HK$) TEEGET) 0.057
Dividend yield (%) AR S B3R (%) -
Expected volatility (%) T8 BRI (%) 56.65
Risk-free interest rate (%) BB ) 2= (%) 0.18
Exercise multiple TEEE 2.8
Expected life of options (years) MR ETRET R B (5 ) 5
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28.

29.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 2,000,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 2,000,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$20,000
(before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 2,000,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme, which
represented approximately 0.1% of the Company’s shares in issue
as at that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 55 of the financial statements.

(a) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregate of the paid-
up share capital of the subsidiaries now comprising the
Group attributable to the Controlling Shareholders prior to the
Reorganisation.

The balance of the merger reserve at 31 December 2021
mainly represented the deemed distribution to the Controlling
Shareholders by issuance of the Company's shares pursuant to
the Reorganisation.

(b) Exchange fluctuation reserve
The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all relevant
exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

(c) Share premium
The share premium represents the difference between the par

value of the shares issued and the consideration paid for the
Reorganisation.
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BT EI(4)

HEATERLEHRE R MREOR S
p o

RREHR © AR RRIEZATE152,000,000
MARITEBEBRE - BEAQFIERE ARG
T BEATE 8 AR 1T A BE IR A S 18 B 2%
2,000,000 0% B89N A A 7] & 388 i% K Z 420,000
S ITRIRBINIRAS (FNBR BT AT ©

RxSHHBRERIEBSR  NARBEZTE
#752,000,00000 RIT{E B - (h5% B BN
ARBEITRMH#I0.1% °

&
AEERAFREEBEFENRELELSS
BRMEMRELLENGRAREEBRET
(a) EOH#EMRE

Aot RIENEE AR R R EERE A
RAEBN B AR 2 SR IRALEHE -

R2021F12 A3 HNAEHHEEEHREE
EIRBEEHB BT AD ARG B EME
B AR H) DR e

(b) HNERBNfHE
HNEE R B E 1 B IR IR BB SN E RS B IS TR R
MEERFTBERER =58 -

(c) BiDHEE
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATION 30. ¥(Ba6t
In December 2020, the Group acquired the business of TrueCount R 2020 F 12 A + AN % B U 88 TrueCount
Corporation (“TrueCount”). TrueCount is engaged in development Corporation([ TrueCount])Z7% ° TrueCount
and supply of software enabling the use of Radio Frequency NEBRERHEERSTE R ELZ S 5855
Identification (“RFID"). The acquisition was made as part of the (TRFID]) MyBx {4 - BB EIF T AN BIIE K
Group's strategy to expand its business development. The purchase TEERRBEH—3 D o WA E245,0003% 7T
consideration of US$245,000 (equivalent to HK$1,899,000) for the (#8E 71,899,000/ 0 ) MRS A AT »

acquisition was in the form of cash.

The fair values of the identifiable assets as at the date of acquisition RUGEE B HE A BRI EENAFEEL T ¢
were as follows:

Fair value
recognised
on acquisition

R EBHER D FE

Notes HK$'000

B 5 FHET
Property, plant and equipment Y - BRE REAE 14 163
Other intangible assets HihEREE 17 270
Deferred tax liabilities REFRIB A & (57)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value FTARTENA#HAFEELE 376
Goodwill on acquisition I 16 1,523
Satisfied by cash AR &t 1,899
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Included in the goodwill of HK$1,523,000 recognised above is an
assembled workforce which is not recognised separately. It is
not separable and does not meet the criteria for recognition as an
intangible asset under HKAS 38 Intangible Assets. None of the
goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition is as
follows:

30. ¥B50F(E

ERATHER G AR EM1,623,000TTRA T
BReM  EUREBER - ZHBBEESR

R A E BB G LR EISRELEE
AT EPEERRRE - RAMECERND
B 0] BERATSH

BEARBENRERESITIT ¢

HK$'000
FHT
Cash consideration and net outflow of cash HEREUKFTAREB T ZHESREDN
and cash equivalents included in cash flows ReERFeEEYRLIFE
from investing activities (1,899)

Since the acquisition, it contributed HK$168,000 to the Group's
revenue and HK$86,000 to the consolidated profit for the year ended
31 December 2020.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year,
the revenue from continuing operations of the Group and the
profit of the Group for the year would have been HK$840,000 and
HK$438,000, respectively.
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B % HREHZE2020F12A31BILEE
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 31. RERESMERME

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (a) METBEENEBE

Interest-

bearing bank Lease Due to

borrowings liabilities directors

TERITHER HEAaE REAESENRE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHIT FHT FAT

At 1 January 2020 720201 A1H 20,726 41,835 403

Changes from financing cash flows  @&R&RE & 437 (11,297) (403)

New leases e = 3,844 -

Lease modification HEEE] = (1,427) =

Termination of leases wIFfAE - (1,326) -

Foreign exchange movement (=) - 1,818 =

Interest expense FEMAZ - 1,627 -

Interest paid classified as PEAMERSMEHN

financing cash flows BEAF S - (1,627) =
At 31 December 2020 and R2020F12A31H %

1 January 2021 2021F1/81H 21,163 33,447 -
Changes from financing cash flows MERESREH (7,541) (10,391) -
New leases s = 9,519 =
Termination of leases HLIEHRE - (482) =
COVID-19-related rent concessions k& HE A

from lessors COVID-19fHEE &

B= - (304) -
Foreign exchange movement [ 5, B &) - 737 -
Interest expense MERFZ - 1,647 =
Interest paid classified as DEAREFRSREN

financing cash flows EARFLE - (1,647) -
At 31 December 2021 2021512 H31H 13,622 32,526 -

(b) Major non-cash transactions (b) EEFHERS
#%09,519,0007% 7t (20204 : 3,844,000
BIT)MHERRERAR T AEREEE
rkHEAE -

Lease commencement recognition of HK$9,519,000 (2020:
HK$3,844,000) was included in right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities.
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 31. S4B HZa &M (£)

(Continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HENRSRHEEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of FFIABRSRERANEERSROBRENT ¢

cash flows is as follows:

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Within operating activities AL EEE) 777 821
Within financing activities FTAREIES 12,038 12,824
12,815 13,645
32. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 32. EEIKMH
Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's bank loans are AREAEERITERMEFNRNEEEE
included in note 25 to the financial statements. 1S E A BT TS R P 525 ©
33. COMMITMENTS 33. RiE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following RIBEEAR  AEEH A TEAREIE :
capital commitments:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHBT FAT
Contracted, but not provided for: T4V B KRB -
Building EEY) 17.891 =
Plant and machinery B Rz 1,102 1,091
18,993 1,091
34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. EBAIRS
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group AEETEEEASHE
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’'s emoluments EERFETHRAEMSHE —THEBEHNY
are included in note 9 to the financial statements. WKL ©
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. RERETHWEMITE
Financial
asset at Financial
fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BRAFETA E7g: £i-ID %N
BrNemEE TENSRIEE Wy
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK’000
FET FEx FET
2021 20214
Financial assets SREE
Trade receivables B S EIE - 53,692 53,692
Financial assets included in ATATEMFIE - Ze Rk
prepayments, deposits and E b ERGRIEN B EE
other receivables - 9,891 9,891
Financial asset at fair value through & A E(EE A B
profit or loss SREE 5,599 - 5,599
Cash and cash equivalents RERFSEEY - 102,101 102,101
5,599 165,684 171,283
Financial
asset at Financial
fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BAFERA TR SH AR
BRemEE STENSREE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK’'000
T FHET FHT
2020 2020%F
Financial assets SREE
Trade receivables B 5 WK IE = 36,724 36,724
Financial assets included in FTATENRIE - ke Rk
prepayments, deposits and HMEYGIEN S REE
other receivables - 6,061 6,061
Financial asset at fair value through &2 AF@EET A B4
profit or loss SREE 5,404 = 5,404
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEEY = 114,743 114,743
5,404 157,528 162,932
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued) 35. REFESNEMIA(E)

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

BEBHEAATTENEREE

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Financial liabilities SRasE

Trade payables B S ENRE 55,763 34,651

Financial liabilities included in other payables and =+ A E 4th & {~F 118 [ fe =1 &
accruals oA E 8,737 6,186
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EERITIER 13,622 21,163
Lease liabilities HEAE 32,526 33,447
110,648 95,447

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 36. €@ TANATERLAFERER

INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amount and fair value of the Group’s financial AEBSRTAMNEEERAFE(RAMBER
instrument, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably ATFEEEBREERINGAT -

approximate to fair values, are as follows:

As at 31 December 2021 A2021%F12H31H
Carrying
amount Fair value
BREE ATE
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Financial asset SMEE
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 1&AF(EE ABHNESFEE 5,599 5,599
As at 31 December 2020 7202012 531H
Carrying
amount Fair value
BREE ~NEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHT
Financial asset SRIEE
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss RAFE ABEHN SR EE 5,404 5,404
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 36. 2R TAMAFERAFERER(ZE)

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, trade
receivables, an amount due from the ultimate holding company,
balances with directors, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals and dividend payables
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee.
At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for
interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liguidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of non-current deposits and other payables, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities, and were assessed to approximate to their carrying
amounts. The Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank borrowings as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was assessed to
be insignificant.

The fair value of a key management insurance contract classified
as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss is based on
the account value less surrender charge, quoted by the vendor. The
directors believe that the estimated fair value resulting from the
valuation technique, which is recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position, and the related change in fair value, which is
recorded in profit or loss, is reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

BEEENG B MBRLEEY SEMTF
KERE D - BB EKFHIR - BURLIER
NEFIR - BERHEH  STABRNMNHE RER
HtEWFIRNSRMEE - BHRNFUR - 5
AEMENRARETEROS B A EARE
NERE 2 A FEEREEERS - DEEHR
ZET ARSI RBIEE -

AEENMBRESENMRAFIAREES
BTEZATFEFENRRMEZR - MEEHE
HERAPBRAEREZZEEHRE - REMS
B BBHMsMem T ABENESUE
EHEMANEIERAE - HEAVHEESR
B R - WHREZE 8 &8 F MR T Rk
FEFBRSHNEEBRERERETR

EREENBBENQATEZBRAE CRARK
BRHERINEZAIRS THAIZMZ TR
MEBEARK - THIERBRBRMGEEAF
':

FERBERREMEMTE  HEEERTE
BITIERO R FETIREAFELUER - 8
B K 82 T EIEA B &9 T A B 3 Al 15 69 5l = 47 38
BHARKB L RENE - W HAREERE
HE o AEEMN20214 K% 2020F12 A31HH
AERITERTBORBREIEATEN -

DRERBRATEFABSZEHEENTIRE
BEABRRANZ R FHEDERKRFEERER
REB(AREBRE)TE - EFHE - A
MERMSH 2 @52 FEGEALGS MBI
AR RATFEZERESHGIABR)ERAE
B YARBEHRcKRAEEE -

HFEZERERAT ¢ 2021 FERSE

135



136

NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BIES SRR MR

31 December 2021
2021F12H31H

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 36. €I ENAFERAFEERR(E)

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

TRET©m T EHER2021F 22020912
A3MBZEANAIERG ABERTEEHXE

sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2021 and 2020: DITBEE :
Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair
technique unobservable input Value value to the input
AT EEE AR
HEHNT BATAUEHRRHAE HE ZHRE
Key management insurance N/A  Account values HK$6,665,000 5% (2020: 5%)
contract classified as a TEHA KRFEE 6,665,000/ 7T increase (decrease)
financial asset at fair value (2020: in account values
through profit or loss HK$6,492,000) would result in
DERBAFEFABR ISR (20204 : increase (decrease)

BENFTEEEABRBRER

Cirtek Holdings Limited ® 2021 Annual Report

6,492,000/% 7T)

Surrender charge HK$1,066,000
RREA 1,066,000/ 7T
(2020:

HK$1,088,000)

(20204 :

1,088,000/ 7T)

in fair value by
HK$333,000
(2020: HK$325,000)
IREEELEFACTEE)
5% (2020%F : 5%)
EH N TE
("RB& 333,000 T
(20204 : 325,000
BIT)

5% (2020: 5%)
increase (decrease)
in surrender charge
would result in
increase (decrease)
in fair value by
HK$53,000
(2020: HK$54,000)

RREBALEACTRE)
5% (20204 : 5% )
HEH N TE LA
("FF%)53,00075 7T
(20204 : 54,000
o)
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group's financial instrument:

Asset measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2021

36. eI ENATFERLAFEER(Z)

DNFHEBR

TREAAEESHTAZAFEFEER :

BAFEAEZEE -
7"2021512831H

Fair value measurement using

B ATERES

Quoted
prices in  Significant  Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
AERmE  EAAUERE BATAEE
ZHE WAE [IPNE]
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(ZE14R) (E24%) (5534%) Fob
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FTET FHET FE T
Financial asset at fair value BAFEFABRY
through profit or loss SRUEE - - 5,599 5,599
As at 31 December 2020 72020%12831H
Fair value measurement using
FTEATERER
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
RIERMS  ERIER SEATAER
Z$R1E /i AE B AE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(E14R) (F24%) (E38%) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FAET FHT
Financial asset at fair value RAFEFABZN
through profit or loss SRMEE - - 5,404 5,404
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36.

37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Asset measured at fair value: (Continued)

The movement in fair value measurement within Level 3 during the
year are as follows:

36. eI ENATFERLAFEER(Z)

DNPEEBRGE)
B FEGTEZEE - (&)

FA - BEIRANRAFEFELEBMNT -

2021 2020

20215 202045

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

At 1 January ®1A1H 5,404 =
Purchases BE = 6,737
Total losses recognised in profit or loss R8s ERR EIE4E%E 195 (1,333)
At 31 December ®12A31H 5,599 5,404

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers out of Level 3 for both
financial assets and financial liabilities (2020: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments include cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, an
amount due from the ultimate holding company, balances with
directors, trade payables, other payables and accruals, interest-
bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liguidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other
than the units’ functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the Hong Kong
dollar exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair values of
monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group's equity.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 37. iR REEEERKE (&

(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) ShEE LR (42)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/
in exchange in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*
E=LH A RRF5 A& F =i,
(%) & Crs) ORL ) *
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHBT
As at 31 December 2021 A2021F12831H
If Renminbi weakens against HK$ i A RHE S BT E 5 (332) -
If Renminbi strengthens against HK$ {4 A R H &t FHAE (5) 332 =
As at 31 December 2020 7"20205612A31H
If Renminbi weakens against HK$ i A RHE S BT E 5 (250) -
If Renminbi strengthens against HK$ {4 A R # 5,3 7T FHE (5) 250 -

* Excluding retained profits

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group's bank borrowings with floating
interest rates. The interest rates and terms of repayment of
the Group's borrowings are disclosed in note 25 to the financial
statements. The Group's policy is to obtain the most favourable
interest rates available for its borrowings. Management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposures should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

* PERERRER

7 £ (8 T s 0 T 355 1) SR A B L i = B LK R [
HERERITERER - AEBERNF X RE
BGPTSR TE268 58 - NREBAIBUR
DREERFRREENEK - BEEEENX
B - R A TR K E B EARRH K E

B -

TRUEPN RS PRAEMA H M A HRER
TENBERT  AEERBRHANERN (CERY
FRERRFE) BRI R4 I A 5 & B H) UK
ED
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

37. BEEREEEEREEK(E)

(Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued) FIZ=E R (&)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in basis points before tax
=2 ER R %5 A= T
(R %) i, O )
HK$'000
FHT
As at 31 December 2021 7202195128318
Hong Kong dollar BIT 100 (136)
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 136
As at 31 December 2020 742020%F12831H
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (212)
Hong Kong dollar BIT (100) 212

The change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period, with
all other variables held constant, had no impact on the Group's equity
excluding retained profits for the years ended 31 December 2021

and 2020.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that only well-established customers
will be considered for open account terms and the approval of credit
terms is subject to stringent credit check procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the

Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

37. YHEREERERBEK(E

Credit risk (Continued) EERK (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging A JE R S R ER
TEREMN12AINBERAEEBEEREK(E
ZRBEHERGITE - BRIFEEMERBAR D
TRERARKE DA ER)NEEEZRRE
ANEERBH A ARFEREERS L - Ao €%
AEMEECRERE -

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly
based on past due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as
at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets.

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12188
EHREFE 2HRNEEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
1 EPI E K] [l A Ehy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FHT FEL S
As at 31 December 2021 #2021%12631H
Trade receivables* B SRElzuE* - - - 53,895 53,895
Financial assets included in FABRFE kR
prepayments, deposits and H iR
other receivables** CREE 9,891 - - = 9,891
Financial asset at fair value BATEFABENEREE
through profit or loss 5,599 - - - 5,599
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFALEEN 102,101 - - - 102,101
117,591 - - 53,895 171,486
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 37. BifSEMEE B ERBE(EZ
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) =SB R (E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) R AR e F KB ER (48 )
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8R
BEEEEE S HRHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BB EYL ERl R b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THx T THL BT
As at 31 December 2020 720206125318
Trade receivables* 2 SRelzoat - - - 36,889 36,889
Financial assets included in STABRFE BER
prepayments, deposits and Hth RIS
other receivables** CRAE 6,061 = - - 6,061
Financial asset at fair value BATES N ERRNGREE
through profit or loss 5,404 - - - 5,404
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEN 114,743 - - - 114,743
126,208 - - 36,889 163,097

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for

impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 20 to the

financial statements.

*%

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other

receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due or there is no

information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk

since initial recognition.

Credit risk concentration

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. The Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as the trade receivables in terms of the
following percentages were due from the Group’s largest external
customer and the Group's five largest external customers out of the

Group's total trade receivables:

* BRAKERAMETRETRENEZEKEANS
ERBEER BRI B RR 2055 -

= FAENHA ZEREMEKTENSREEZFE
BERARBHRIBEERZAZEZEMBEEANTHER
RiERRRBZEMERES [ER] -

FERRET

HAAEEERSRAREERFNE=TR
5 WEFEER ARERETEEEDTR
B TTHRATEZRKFRGREEE S
WHRIHARFEN A S LR A R B RAINER P
RAEBRRIINEEF#E

Due from the Group's largest external customer
Due from the Group's five largest external

customers

2021 2020

20214 20204

% %

A SEHRAINDRF 14 12
JEUR A =B AINBR

24 19
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liguidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial instruments and financial assets and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings and funds
generated from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual and undiscounted

payments, is as follows:

37. BBEREEEBERBEE

MENE & [E 2

AEEERAEEERDESHRE TAEEES
SRRER ZTAFREESRTANSBE
EMENIIHBEARBALLERSRERE

AEEN B BERBBERRITERRLERS
BEe EESZARBUEREEE ZMRET
g -

AEERBREPRER GO RABRN TN
MAGEIHARLT

Less than 3 to less than More than
On demand 3 months 12 months  1to 5 years 5 years Total
RER DR3ER 3Z12BAUT 125% L st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET THET BT BT
As at 31 December 2021 #2021%12631H
Trade payables ZSERTR - 55,763 - - - 55,763
Financial liabilities included in STARMERFER
other payables and accruals EAERANCRAR 120 8,617 - = = 8,737
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 58RI 12,988 480 160 - - 13,628
Lease liabilities HEBE - 3,603 6,917 25,952 2,815 39,287
13,108 68,463 1,077 25,952 2,815 117,415
As at 31 December 2020 #2020%12631A
Trade payables BHRMATE - 34,651 - - = 34,651
Financial liabilities included in AL ENZER
other payables and accruals EAERNERAR 220 5,966 - - - 6,186
Interest-bearing bank borrowings S RTER 18,695 480 1,441 640 - 21,256
Lease liabilities HEaE - 2,9% 8,501 23,907 5,785 41,187
18,915 44,091 9,942 24,547 5,785 103,280

The Group's term loans with a repayment on demand clause in the
amount of HK$12,988,000 (2020: HK$18,695,000) were repayable
after one year in accordance with the terms of the loans. The loan
agreements contained a repayment on demand clause giving the
bank the unconditional right to call in the loans at any time and
therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the amount
is classified as “on demand”.

7N £ [E A& 28 12,988,000 % 7T ( 2020 F :
18,695,000 7t ) I 5 1% 2 Sk (8 32 {5k 51 B0 TE A
EFBRBEEAERNGRER —FEREE - B
R B SRERKEEGER - ZIERE TR
PAE AT B R R E S B SR - Bt - 5h

ERBERRTE - ARRERS AR [RE
=3p
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that
the loans will be called in their entirety within 12 months, and they
consider that the loans will be repaid in accordance with the maturity
dates as set out in the loan agreements. This evaluation was made
considering: the financial position of the Group at the date of this
report; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the lack of
events of default; and the fact that the Group has made all previously
scheduled repayments on time.

As at 31 December 2021, in accordance with the terms of the
loans, the contractual undiscounted payments were HK$5,707,000
due within one year, HK$4,495,000 due in the second year, and
HK$4,503,000 due beyond two years.

As at 31 December 2020, in accordance with the terms of the
loans, the contractual undiscounted payments were HK$8,129,000
due within one year, HK$5,707,000 due in the second year, and
HK$8,999,000 due after two years.

Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices
and the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to
market price risk arising from key management insurance contracts
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note
18) as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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RiEAEOE A EE - BRFEEEET
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yom
B o

MR2021F12A31H @ REBEEZRER > R—F
NEIHAR & 4R BE IR 4 545,707,000 7T -
R E = F 35 54,495,000 T © RMELAE
F|H1 44,503,000/ 7T °

M2020612A31H ' REBEERER - R—F
R E| B8 & 4R Bh 3R 14 57 58,129,000/8 7T -
NE — £ 3| H)A5,707,0008 7T - NREL T
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 37. iR REEEERKE (&

(Continued)
Market price risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5% change
in the fair values of the key management insurance contracts with
all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax and
the Group's equity, based on their carrying amounts at the end of the
reporting period.

miSERRREE)

TR SR BT ELA A R A TR
T REWE R BEE - ARERBA
FIRAEEERHEEERABRRA DN D
TES5REBHEEE -

Increase/
decrease in

Carrying profit before
amount tax
BREE AT A
IREE &, E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
2021 20215
Key management insurance contract DERRAFETA
classified as a financial asset at fair value BHENTEEEAS
through profit or loss REEE L 5,599 280
Increase/
decrease in
Carrying profit before
amount tax
PR Al o )
BREE &0, mA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHBT
2020 20204
Key management insurance contract DERIRNFERA
classified as a financial asset at fair value BalEZEEAS
through profit or loss REEX 5,404 270

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders or return capital to shareholders. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

A BES1 - ARBIRIZH R A R iR R

4
MR

AEEETEAEETIEE EREASENR
R
BAREEABEESKA

AEBEREEAEERABLER D ESE
LA - BEFNAREALERE  ASETE
SHEERN TREAREFESABRRERESE
R o B E20214F 2020512831 B I E -
EEEAMBIEZ  BURKBFIEHIRES -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total capital. Net debt includes interest-bearing
bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Capital represents the equity
attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the
end of the reporting periods were as follows:

37.

5

BREREEBERBEK(E

EXREE(E)

AEBEEREERGLE(AFEBRAER
RB)ERER - FEABEBABRITERK
EAE - BAEARBER AREES - X
HEPRNEERBLETMT :

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings STESRITER 13,622 21,163
Lease liabilities HEAE 32,526 33,447
Net debt FE 46,148 54,610
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AATHA AELER 249,666 236,126
Gearing ratio BEEBRELE 18.5% 23.1%

38. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 27 January 2022, the Company has entered into a non-legally
binding provisional sale and purchase agreement with the sole
shareholder of Print100 Limited (the “Provisional SPA"). Pursuant
to the Provisional SPA, the sole shareholder has provisionally agreed
to sell and the Company has provisionally agreed to purchase 100%
of the equity interests of Print100 Limited subject to a definitive
formal sale and purchase agreement to be entered into between
the parties. Details of the proposed acquisition of equity interests
in Print100 Limited are disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 27 January 2022.
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 39. AQAMEAMR K

2021 2020
20214 20204
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
=2 FET FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KA R MR E 201,488 201,488
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments BT FRIE 309 117
Due from subsidiaries FE U B A R FR IR 72,814 74,360
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBESEEY 145 147
Total current assets mENEELE 73,268 74,624
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals HAi BB RENEA 65 363
Due to a subsidiary FEfS— MM B A Bl 3E 2,049 1,925
Total current liabilities mEAEEE 2,114 2,288
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFRE 71,154 72,336
Net assets EEFE 272,642 273,824
TOTAL EQUITY EmEEE
Share capital &N 27 20,000 20,000
Reserves (note) A ED) 252,642 253,824
Total equity e A %E 272,642 273,824
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY  39. A AT B RE(2)

(Continued)
Note: Pt -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AABFRERENT -
Share Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RADRE BRAEGE REtEE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
At 1 January 2020 720201 818 201,488 - (1,198) 200,290
Issue of new shares pursuant to the capitalisation Ri%& (L3 1T# A (15,000) - - (15,000)
New shares issued pursuant to the share offer RIRA (D B & TR D 120,000 - - 120,000
Share issuance cost BRI BEATRR AN (29,437) - - (29,437)
Equity-settled share option arrangement PR 7 4% B s A e 22 - 8 - 8
Special dividend FERIRR B - - (10,000) (10,000)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive loss FRBERFAZAEBERSE
for the year - - (12,037) (12,037)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 7202012 8318 K2021%F1A1H 277,051 8 (23,235) 253,824
Equity-settled share option arrangement IR 7S 45 4 AR v 2 - 27 - 27
Final dividend HRHIRR B = = (1,500) (1,500)
Profit for the year and total comprehensive income 4 Ay 7|} £ A 2 R 25 4858
for the year - - 291 291
At 31 December 2021 #2021412A318 277,051 35 (24,444) 252,642
40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 40. #HtEREIRT
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by B HR RN 20223 A30 A EE S i K I%
the board of directors on 30 March 2022. T -
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